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Friday, August 19, 2005


-‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.


Today is the fifth day of the hearing of application EB‑2005-0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.  This morning we will continue cross‑examination on issue 11, EnVision, and begin examination of issue 6.3, risk management.


We would like to take a break around 10:30 and lunch at 12 o'clock, if that works with everyone's questioning.  


Are there any preliminary matters, Ms. Persad?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS PERSAD:  Yes, Madam Chair, thank you.  I have just one preliminary matter.  We've had a chance to speak to Accenture's counsel in this matter, who is Mr. Howe, and he has informed us, based on the request that was made, I believe a couple of days ago, by Mr. Warren about the fee schedules for the EnVision contract, whether they could be filed in confidence, and they have agreed to do that on the same conditions that they were filed in the past case.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  Mr. Millar, any preliminary matters?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I think with that, Mr. Dingwall, you were going to begin your examination of this panel.

ENVISION PANEL 1; Resumed:


Arunas Pleckaitis; Previously Sworn


Janet Holder; Previously Sworn


Lloyd Chiotti; Previously Sworn


Catherine McCowan; Previously Sworn

Dennis Bruce; Previously Sworn


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct, Madam Chair.  Thank you for the opportunity.  To begin with, I did provide the estimate of 20 to 30 minutes yesterday, and I can assure you that I was using imperial time not metric time, as some of my colleagues might have been using.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  We appreciate that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Panel, my name is Brian Dingwall, counsel today for a group called Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, who are principally small and medium commercial and industrial clients of Enbridge.


I am going to be rather surgical in my cross, as it appears that most of the limbs were cut off yesterday with respect to some of the bigger subject areas.


Mr. Bruce, in reviewing K2.4, I observed that your background doesn't appear to involve matters before the Ontario Energy Board.  As I'm sure the document can't be exhaustive in speaking to your experience, could you tell me if you are familiar with utility regulation in Ontario?


MR. BRUCE:  My background relates to -- I spent 12, 13 years at Bell Canada in utility regulation there, but not specifically in Ontario regulation of this company for the ‑‑ in terms of the Energy Board.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So then would it be fair to say that you have not run into a regime known as performance-based rate-making?


MR. BRUCE:  Not intimately familiar with the term "performance-based rate-making", although at Bell Canada we moved to a price cap regime and I was involved in that.


MR. DINGWALL:  So then would it be fair to say that the recommendations developed in your reports were not developed with incentive- or performance‑based regulation in mind?


MR. BRUCE:  I'm not sure, specifically.  They weren't -- not that specific note, no.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Chiotti?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  I knew I would get one out of you today.  From our discussion several years ago, I had understood that part of field-force transformation would involve the selection of a couple of exclusive contractors for a five‑year period.  Has that occurred yet?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I would not say that part of field-force transformation was to select a set of exclusive contractors.  We have been engaged in a parallel initiative to EnVision, which I think we have spoken about previously and referred to as the strategic distribution alliance.  That initiative was directed at striking a different kind of working relationship with a select group of contractors, but that was never considered a part of EnVision, per se.  And that has happened.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  And these contractors, can you just give me an overview of what it is that they do for the utility?


MR. CHIOTTI:  We have two types of contractors involved in the SDA.  We have construction contractors, and those are the contractors that are involved in installing our plant, and then we have service contractors who do a variety of things, including inspections and exchanges of meters for government inspection purposes, and so on.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, am I correct in understanding that for both types of contractors, you also have some Enbridge people that do those same functions?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I wouldn't say that we necessarily have the same people that do the full scope of functions necessarily, but, yes, we have service technicians that are company employees, and we have maintenance and construction technicians who are company employees, as well.


MR. DINGWALL:  As I can understand it, one of the focuses of EnVision is to ensure that the work performed by individuals on behalf of the company is maximized in terms of its efficiency, lack of waste time, that sort of thing.  Does that apply to these third-party contractors, as well?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, it does.


MR. DINGWALL:  And do the third-party contractors enter into their agreement with Enbridge or with Accenture?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Oh, no, they enter into their agreement with Enbridge, Enbridge Gas Distribution specifically. 


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, when we discussed this a couple of years ago, you indicated that these contractors would have exclusive contracts for a five‑year term.  Is that what ensued?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I was not personally involved in negotiating those contracts.  I'm aware of some of the details on the periphery.  I understand that they are five‑year contracts.  When you say "exclusive", I would be hesitant to give you a flat out "yes" to that.  I believe there is still other types of work that those contractors may not necessarily be engaged to do.


MS. HOLDER:  I was personally involved in negotiations of those contracts and Lloyd's comments are accurate.  For the work that they are performing today, they have exclusive rights, not over employees, though.  They don't have any volume ‑‑ we have no volume commitments to the contractors so Enbridge employees can take work away from them, but if there is new work, that could go to tender.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  But with respect to the work that globally the Enbridge employees and the third-party contractors would be doing, the goal of EnVision is to monitor their efficiency improvements; is that correct?


MS. HOLDER:  No, that's not quite fair.  We give them the tools.  It's up to them to manage their own business, in that if there is benefits or efficiencies gained, then those benefits are shared between the contractors and Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an example of how that might work?


MS. HOLDER:  Well, there's a couple of ways.  One is if we work together with the contractors and develop a new way of doing business, a new way of actually tackling the task and that creates efficiencies, then there's sharing between the contractors themselves and those efficiencies.  So that could be totally independent of EnVision.  


If EnVision provides them tools that help them better manage their business, then we can share in some of those benefits, as well.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Are the contractors ‑‑ let's start with construction first.  Are they on a 

fee-per-service tariff of some sort?  How are they -‑ what is their fee arrangement with --


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Unit pricing.


MR. DINGWALL:  Unit pricing.  Would that be per hour labour?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Per unit of pipe installed based on different types of pipe, or replacing meter, or putting in a service.  So it's broken down into categories of work per unit, and then they have unit prices for those categories of work.


MR. DINGWALL:  And does the same apply to the non‑construction?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it's all unit prices per category of work?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So if they were to do a Red Rock or something like that, it would be a fixed fee for that service.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  What is the duration of the contract term?


MS. HOLDER:  Five years.


MR. DINGWALL:  Five years?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And when would that five years be up?  Mr. Chiotti mentioned that it had already begun. 

     MS. HOLDER:  December 2008 or November.  They were signed last November.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So that I understand, from your earlier comment about gains sharing, would Enbridge be paying more to those contractors, or less to those contractors, if there were efficiencies identified? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Well, there's also -- we could be paying more to the contractors for another reason.  The contract also contemplates having metrics in place for their own performance.  If they perform very well on their scorecard, we will, in essence, bonus them.  If they perform poorly relative to their scorecard, they will then pay a penalty.  So it could be more or less, depending on the circumstances.  

     We are incenting -- the contract was designed to incent them to be more efficient.  It was designed such that we would help them -- provide them tools for EnVision, so that they can be more efficient.  And that benefit would then, in turn, come back to ratepayers.  

     It was also designed such that they would perform relative to a set of standards that would be as good as our own employee standards, and they’re incented to live up to those standards, or even do better.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So I understand it, if there is a penalty to a contractor, you mentioned that that would go back to ratepayers.  How would that occur? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Penalties go back to ratepayers? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  If a penalty is paid by a contractor for poor service, you mentioned that would benefit ratepayers.  How would that do so? 

     MS. HOLDER:  It would depend on its timing, I guess.  You're right, if it's in a test year, that the benefit would be more to the shareholder.  But the intention is, is the benefit is there to the ratepayers, because it's incenting them to have better service.  That's the benefit the ratepayer gets, is a higher service -- higher quality of service.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So it's not your intention that any penalty provision in a contract with a service contractor, that leads to a penalty, be paid to reduce ratepayer obligations? 

     MS. HOLDER:  We hadn't really thought about that, because that’s not -- that wasn't the, sort of, the purpose of the contract.  The purpose of the contract was to make sure contractors on it had to deliver service at a quality that we would expect of them.  And if they don't, there is a penalty to it.  

     I'm not sure that those penalties would be large enough that would make a difference whether it flowed through rates or not.   It would be large enough to any one contractor to create an incentive for them to perform better.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  So let me give you an example.  One of the elements that are -- is in the score card of the contractors is, the contractor's must meet certain service appointment-time parameters with respect to responding to customer calls.  If they fall outside of those parameters, and they underperform, then there is a financial penalty to them to do that.  

     As Janet said, the objective here is to try to incent them so they're doing the right thing, which is meeting or exceeding those customer-service appointments.  The objective, obviously, is to improve customer service -- is one of the factors.  And if they don't, the only way you can really -- the way we contemplated -- the way, when Janet put together the contract, contemplated to motivate them to do the right thing that way is to have carrot-and-stick-approach.  If you don't achieve those targets, there will be a financial penalty to you in the year you don't perform.  If you exceed them, there’ll be a financial upside to it.   

     MS. HOLDER:  I think it’s also important to understand, the reverse works, as well.  If they over-perform, such that they're bonused, then that would be the shareholders' expense, if it’s happening -- if it happened in the test year.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  If EnVision proceeds and meets all the expectations that you have, is it conceivable that the fees -- that the increased levels of efficiency might lead third-party contractors, on renewal or renegotiation of the agreements, to lower rates for the services that they’ve identified? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Absolutely.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And if, conversely, there was an increase in those rates on renegotiation, would that be something that would lead one to the conclusion that maybe EnVision did not deliver those efficiencies? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  There's lots of reasons that prices could go up.  EnVision could be part of it.  There's lots of reasons the prices could go down, and EnVision could be part -- we expect very much that EnVision will be part of that.  

     I think, at the end of the day, as we've said in the evidence, we intend to make the benefits and costs of EnVision throughout our business, and where those benefits and costs are realized, very transparent for the Board and intervenors.  

     So you will see, in future rate cases, where those benefits and costs have arisen.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So, in the recording of costs and benefits, for example, if you were able to reduce your price to ratepayers, at the end of the day, for Red Rocks or some type of service like that, would you be proposing to treat that as a benefit in the aggregate amount of the price reduction over the number of service calls? 

     I'm just trying to figure out how the numbers would work.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's the way it would end up being realized, is that -- when we, say, renegotiated the contract pricing with the contractor, the pricing will -- you know, pricing will either go up or down, based on a number of factors, “up” factors such as normal inflation, “down” factors being their productivity levels have improved because of things like EnVision.  

     To the degree that EnVision improves their productivity - which we expect it will - then we expect to see those productivity factors reflected in future pricing.  And so their prices would be lower than they would otherwise be, had EnVision not been -- had EnVision not been implemented.  

     And the objective of the cost analysis that we will be providing to the Board in evidence in future rate cases will be to try to illustrate the transparency, to illustrate how that is, in fact, happening, the best way we can.  

     MS. HOLDER:  I think it’s fair to say, though, that the change in the unit price for a unit of work would not all, in its entirety, flow to the EnVision benefits, unless that change was entirely due to EnVision benefits.  

     A prime example, in the situation we ran into as -- while we were going through the negotiations with the contractors, was a cost of fuel.  It has nothing to do with EnVision.  It's just a reality of life.  Fuel prices were skyrocketing.  They’d already set their prices.  It wasn't embedded in those prices.  So if fuel -- if they set a price now that -- in the future that reflects the fuel, and fuel goes down, those would not be EnVision’s benefits.  They would be benefits that the ratepayers would experience, but they wouldn't be attributed to EnVision.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I take it that the tracking of benefits related to EnVision is a somewhat new and growing process? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So it's conceivable that any number of categories of benefits could come up in the future, depending on what is identified? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Absolutely.  And there is -- within the Accenture contract, for example, there’s quite a significant section of the contract that deals with how those benefits will be tracked.  Accenture is incented to try to maximize the benefits from EnVision, because they are -- there is a bonus provision in the contract that will allow them to recoup higher fees if benefits exceed certain targets.  And so they are motivated to try to demonstrate and illustrate that the benefits of EnVision are benefiting our customers.  

     We, on the other hand, have to be able to demonstrate to this Board that the benefits and fees -- the bonuses that we're paying to Accenture are, in fact, appropriate, and that we're not overpaying them in those incentive components.  So it will be really important -- we will have to be very careful in our analysis to make those determinations.  

     Having said that, I can -- I want to be clear to the Board that that is not an easy exercise.  You can imagine the complexities that you get into in trying to decipher all of the parts of a contractor's particular piece of work, and trying to determine which element of that benefit or improved efficiency is as a result of EnVision.  Because EnVision is a very complicated undertaking that touches so many elements of our work.  

     Having said that, I believe we can do it, and we can do it well.  But it will be a challenging exercise, and there will be areas of grey that will require careful analysis.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I believe one of Mr. Bruce's recommendations was some form of audit process and dispute resolution process with respect to that.  Is the company considering implementing that recommendation? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  The company will implement all of HLB's recommendations.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So audit reports -- 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Auditable reports. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  -- would be available, should ratepayers request them, in justifying some of the payments that might be made to Accenture? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.  


MS. HOLDER:  I think, thinking back, and I realize that all of this evidence was filed in 2005 and -- but it wasn't reviewed because of the ADR process.  Mr. Pleckaitis mentions a couple of very key points.


This whole process was a two‑year process.  We were negotiating with Accenture.  We were negotiating with four different contractors.  And all of those negotiations took us basically 18 months.


We decided that it was worth our effort to put a very complex situation in play, that we would reduce ‑‑ go from 39 contractors to four contractors; We would contract with Accenture for all our work and asset management; get the management services; have them integral to working with us and the contractors.


In doing so, we created a ‑‑ we knew what would be a very difficult situation, and that is:  How do we now show to everybody that what we have done has been the right thing for ratepayers, which is, if you want to talk about one incremental cost, she happens to be sitting two seats down from me.  We created a role right from the very beginning to say, Okay, we're going to create this situation that's the right thing to do, but we need to figure out how to best manage it.  So we created a role whose responsibility was to figure out how to best track what we're doing today, which was 18 months ago or a year ago, and then track that as we go through time to show the benefits that are being accrued.  


But it is very complex, because it isn't just about Accenture.  It really is about five parties and Enbridge Gas Distribution being true partners.


MR. DINGWALL:  It's interesting that one of the recommendations was that there be auditable records with respect to the benefits.


It would seem to me that both Accenture and Enbridge would have some motivation, due to the way that rate-making works, to show benefits, and that's where the whole notion of an audit happens.


Is there any conception of using a third-party organization in order to review the proposed benefits and also to determine whether the benefits are directly attributable, which is the problem Mr. Pleckaitis mentioned a few minutes ago, or whether there are any offsetting costs?  Is there any conception of using a third party for that purpose?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  If I could, I'm trying to understand.  When you said they were both motivated - both Enbridge and Accenture are motivated - to maximize benefits, I'm struggling to understand why that would be considered a bad thing.


If we achieve substantial benefits from EnVision, say higher than even what we forecasted, those have to be reflected in the prices, the rates we charge customers.  So I would think from an intervenor perspective, Board perspective, that would be a good thing.


If we are achieving more benefits than we had said, you would think there would be a comfort that the project is being managed effectively.


If we're achieving less benefits, I could see perhaps the Board would have more concerns that, you know, Is this being managed in the best possible way?


So if we're paying Accenture more in bonus payments, that would mean even greater benefit to customers, because Accenture only gets a portion, a very small portion, of the overall benefits achieved.


So though -- one could always say, Well, let's throw in another auditing process independent, but I think the checks and balances are appropriately set to motivate the company and Accenture in the right way and that customers should feel that the arrangements are appropriate.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Pleckaitis, I'm not a cynical person by nature, though I fear some of my colleagues might be perceived as that, just because of the way that they have to fulfil their duties on behalf of their client ratepayers.


It seems that there might be a perception that given that both Enbridge and Accenture need to show that there are benefits, that some cynical folk might say that the benefits are created where there are none.  That's why I'm asking whether the company has an intention of using a third party to review what you are contending are benefits.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I understand your point.  But my point was that if we show benefits in a particular year, test year - let's say those benefits are $25 million - those benefits have to be reflected in the prices or costs we're attempting to recoup from ratepayers.  


So if we -- instead of $25 million a year of benefits, we are achieving $35 million of benefits per year, those somehow have to be shown in lesser costs that we're recovering from ratepayers.


So if we -- as you said, if we for some reason have made an inappropriate decision to overpay Accenture a portion of those benefits, we, Enbridge, then have to find a way of recouping more than that in cost savings from customers.  


So I'm trying to understand how we would be or why we would be motivated under any circumstance to do that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, given the limitation on the timing, I don't think it is helpful to the process for you and I to debate the question of motivation.


It would be more helpful, though, to get an understanding of whether the company has a desire or a willingness to use a third party in the presentation of those benefits.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  My belief is the company is undertaking ‑‑ undertakes a lot of business.  EnVision is just one of the projects.


It has a responsibility to this Board to demonstrate that -- what its costs and benefits are on a variety of programs.  We've already committed to a methodology of reviewing benefits and costs that I understand all of the intervenors, through the settlement proposal, are comfortable with; that the proposal that has been presented by HLB is satisfactory to them.


We intend to fulfil that requirement and present that information and make that information available to the Board and the intervenors in subsequent hearings.  If at any time the Board at that time wishes to question those results as not being accurate, they have the right to request an audit.  


But an ongoing process of a third-party audit to me is, frankly, a waste of ratepayer money.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to move on to another area.  Thank you for your answer.


There has been some discussion over the past couple of days with respect to what have been termed "change orders", which - I will provide a brief encapsulation, just so the record is clear - are changes of such magnitude as to require contractual change and possibly incur further fee with Accenture.


Are there any circumstances known at this time which might lead to change orders in the test year?


MR. CHIOTTI:  We are not aware of any that would generate change orders in the test year.


I would caution, however, that the whole reason that there is a mechanism for change orders is that with an initiative of this magnitude and this complexity, you don't anticipate everything in advance, and circumstances change and so on.


For example, there may be ‑‑ we may identify -- having used the system for some period of time and become more familiar with the capabilities and the potential of the system, we might identify that a modification to the system, an enhancement to the system of some form might allow us to even gain further benefits from the use of the system.


In that situation, we would be anxious to raise a change order, have that enhancement applied so that we could then achieve those benefits.  But as we speak right now, there are no specific ideas of that nature on the drawing board.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would there be any costs associated with implementing the recommendations of Mr. Bruce?


MS. McCOWAN:  I don't believe so.


MR. DINGWALL:  In the event that the Board develops what are called service quality indicators, something that's been debated over the past number of years, which require specific measurement of operational activities, would that, in the way that the contract is struck, require any form of change order or additional cost?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  It might.  So until we actually see how those evolve, I can tell you that I believe EnVision will be, again, very helpful in allowing us to respond, because it basically provides us a better insight and better information on how work is being performed and how customer service levels are being achieved.


MR. CHIOTTI:  I would just like to add to Mr. Pleckaitis's comments.  Obviously, we're not aware of what these SQIs or KPIs are ultimately going to be in the final analysis.  The design of the software that we are using for work management, in fact it is designed to track the entire life cycle of an order.

     So from the moment that the order is created and entered into the system, we have the ability to track that piece of work through every stage of its life-cycle.   When you combine that with the field-force transformation and wireless devices in the field, we'll actually be able to capture that information in real time.  So we should be in a better position than we would have been with our Legacy systems to respond to producing that kind of information.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I understand that one of the complexing factors which led to the delay in the rolling-out of the EnVision project was the complexity of the interface with the current CIS.  

     In the event that Enbridge, at some point in the future, implements a new CIS, would there be further modifications or costs associated with implementation required under the EnVision project? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  You have considerable insight into the difficult -- some of the difficulties that we had.  

     There is a very significant interface between the software products that comprise the technology components of EnVision and the CIS.  As you can imagine, customer information is a significant component of any piece of work that we have to do -- knowing addresses and so on and so forth.  With -- you know, systems change and evolve.  Interfaces have to change and evolve, as well.  And, of course, we would have to look at what kind of interface would need to be there with any new CIS system that would come in.  And at that time, that would be a -- that would, potentially, be a significant enhancement, that would require a change order.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  When we last spoke about this in this room, there was some consideration that Gazifere might use the EnVision system.  Is that the case? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, Gazifere does use the EnVision system, and pays for that usage.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now have they you entered into a service agreement for the EnVision system? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm not close to the precise agreement, or how it's constituted.  That was worked out through our IT group, because our IT group provides, you know, IT facilities to Gazifere.  

     My understanding of the arrangement is that, on a per-customer basis, they pay a certain amount to use the system.  I don't know the financial details of how the -- those payments flow, or what have you, but that's my understanding.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is there any one up the corporate ladder who can add anything to that? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I think the way to -- I don't know any more about it than what Lloyd had explained, but if it would be helpful, we could easily take an undertaking to provide you with the specifics on that.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let me try to frame that, then.  What I’d like to know is, first of all, whether Gazifere is using the EnVision system.  I believe you said “yes.” 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  The answer to that is “yes.”  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And have they entered into an arrangement with Enbridge Gas Distribution or Accenture, or some other party, in order to do this? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  It -- sorry. 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Go ahead, Lloyd. 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  They have not entered into any arrangement with Accenture.  They would have entered into an arrangement with Enbridge Gas Distribution Ontario.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you provide me with details of that arrangement? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  We will do so.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Including the costs?  Particularly -- 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I think what you're looking for is the services being provided, and the fees that they're paying for those services? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is it pursuant to an agreement? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I presume that there is some form of agreement, yes.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  In fact -- and here, again, I wasn't close to the deliberations -- but they certainly had to incorporate that into their budgets, and defend it in front of their regulator in Quebec.  And, in fact, a fair amount of detail was gone into to arrive at those arrangements.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  How is it reflected in the evidence here?  Is it an offset in the costs? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I presume it would be a revenue that would be coming into ECG as a result of that.  But, again, perhaps we can make that part of the undertaking.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not going to ask to produce everything that's been produced in another forum at this point in time.  If you could give us, by way of undertaking, the regulatory treatment of the monies received from Gazifere, and indicate where, in the evidence, they're presented in this case, as well as an overview of the cost and costing structure of the arrangement with Gazifere, that would suffice.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think, Mr. Battista, all we need is an undertaking number.  Mr. Dingwall has described it fairly clearly.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  We’ll call that J5.1.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  TO DETERMINE AND ADVISE AS TO THE REGULATORY TREATMENT OF THE MONIES RECEIVED FROM GAZIFERE, AND INDICATE WHERE THAT INFORMATION IS PRESENTED IN THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE, AND TO PROVIDE AN OVERVIEW OF THE COST AND COSTING STRUCTURE OF THE ARRANGEMENT WITH GAZIFERE  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is Enbridge Gas Distribution entitled to offer this to any other third party? 

     MS. HOLDER:  My recollection of the contract is it is only affiliates.  So it would only be companies like Gazifere -- and that's affiliates of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And is Accenture entitled to offer these services to any third party? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, very much.  

     Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. Millar, do you have questions for this panel? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I just have two areas to go over, and I don't propose to be more than a couple of minutes on each of them.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  As a preliminary question, I'm just wondering: does the witness panel have a copy of yesterday's transcript?

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. MILLAR:  It may be easier for me to refer to that.  And I apologize to Ms. Persad.   Normally, I’d make copies of the pages I was going to refer to, but I just fund the references while Mr. Dingwall was speaking.  I don't think it will be anything controversial, so please let me know if you have any difficulties as I go along.  But I'm going to be referring to some of -- initially, some of Ms. Holder's testimony yesterday morning.  

     And you may recall, Ms. Holder, that Mr. Warren was asking you some questions about the 1.95 million and additional costs that were recorded against rate base.  Do you recall that? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I'm just looking at page 59 of the transcript --  

     MS. HOLDER:  Okay.  

     MR. MILLAR:  - and at line 16, Mr. Warren asked:

“Now I'm trying to get at, then, the rate-making implications of the -- for the Accenture portion, which is 4.15 million of that, that's something which Accenture eats.  Is that right?”

      And you said, “That's correct.”

     Mr. Warren asked: 

          “Now the 1.95 million, is that part of what is

booked in rate base?”

      And you responded, "Yes".  

     So I just wanted to confirm to you that that 1.95 million did go to rate base? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MS. HOLDER:  For 90 percent of that, sorry. 

     MR. MILLAR:  90 percent, yes.  I’m sorry, it’s continue, and you clarify. 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  If we turn to the next page, page 60 of the transcript, line 3, in response to a question by Mr. Warren, you say:

"Yes.  But those delays are a result of enhancement to the system, and scope changes to the system, that we hadn't previously identified as needing a change in the go-live date." 

     Did that -- that accurately reflects what you said yesterday morning?

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes, that is what I said.  What -- it probably wasn't the best language -- that's why you hate reading these things, after the fact --

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, I’ll give you a chance to clarify, if you wanted to add to that. 

     MS. HOLDER:  What I was trying to say is that there had been minor scope changes and minor enhancements to the system all along --

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MS. HOLDER:  -- that resulted, eventually, in a delay.  We were hoping, at the time that we were putting these little minor adjustments in, that we could still go live at the original date.  As we were discussing with Accenture through the time -- through a period of months, it was looking like it was going to get tighter and tighter.  And finally Accenture said, We can't do it any more, these minor changes have all added up to enough to cause us a delay.  And that’s what I was referring to in that -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MS. HOLDER:  -- example. 

     MR. MILLAR:  But the reason that you put the -- or, 90% of the 1.95 million to rate base is because there were additional benefits to customers; is that correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  There will be. 

     MR. MILLAR:  There will be, pardon me.  You're predicting there will be additional benefits.  

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And, in fact, on that point again, on page 63 of the transcript, at line 10, I think you say -- very much that you say, because the 1.95 million did generate changes that resulted in enhancement to the product that Accenture delivered to us, which is to the benefit of ratepayers.


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could you please turn up for me exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2?  And specifically I'm looking on page ‑‑ it's page 3 of 5.


MS. HOLDER:  Yes, we have that.


MR. MILLAR:  I will just wait for the panel to turn it up.


MS. NOWINA:  What page was it, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  It's A6, tab 5, schedule 2, page 3 of 5.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  You will see at the bottom of that page table 1, "EnVision Costs to Benefits Summary".  If we look a few columns down, there are two columns.  One says "Annual Benefits Original", and the second says "Annual Benefits Revised"; is that right?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think when you were discussing this with Mr. Warren yesterday, you indicated that the revised table shows -- it reflects the delays that came about in implementing the system; is that correct?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And essentially we get to the same benefits eventually.  It is just pushed to ‑‑ I guess you catch up in 2007; is that right?


MS. HOLDER:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm wondering if you can show me or explain to me if the $1.95 million in benefits that you discussed with Mr. Warren yesterday, if those are reflected in this table or how they're reflected?


MS. McCOWAN:  The 1.95 is in costs.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.


MS. McCOWAN:  And it's reflected in the difference between 18.5 and 21.8 shown as budget and actual for Accenture fees at the top row.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could you show me that reference again?


MS. McCOWAN:  In the top row, you see the reference to Accenture fees, and the difference between 18.5 and 21.8 incorporates 1.95.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  So I see that the cost is recorded there.  However, Ms. Holder explained that there would be

-- the benefits would accrue from that additional expenditure to ratepayers.


I'm wondering if those benefits are reflected in the table, as well.


MR. CHIOTTI:  The benefit side of the equation is necessarily a forecast.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, of course.


MR. CHIOTTI:  We have certain expectations.  We have evidence from having investigated what other utilities did and what they indicated they were able to achieve by implementing this -- these kinds of systems, and so on.


When we developed the original business case for EnVision, the range of benefits was relatively broad, in fact.  In fact, the low end of the benefits was in the order of 19 million and the high end of the benefits was in the order of 31 million.


It is difficult to predict at the moment just exactly what the total amount of benefit will ultimately flow from this initiative, and, in fact, there are other potential benefits that this initiative are going to enable that we're not even in a position to identify at this time.


So we filed these financials, we felt it was appropriate, given that there was, you know, the potential for a range of benefits to be achieved, that we pick the mid-range of what we had forecast at that time.


We still feel that that is an appropriate number to be forecasting at this point.  As a result of that 1.95, should this reflect 21.5 million?  We're talking variations on a range of benefits here that we didn't feel it necessary to actually change the projection of that number at this point, and that's the only reason you see it reflected this way.


MR. MILLAR:  So I understand that these are just estimates on the benefits.  But you would agree with me that in adding an additional almost $2 million to rate base, presumably there will be at least $2 million of benefits that go to ratepayers from this?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm not sure.


MS. HOLDER:  The benefits from some of these changes may not be necessarily financial.  So I think that is why we're struggling whether it will be $2 million.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.


MS. HOLDER:  Some of the changes or enhancements could result in better monitoring of the systems.  It could result in speedier IT so that screens pop up faster than we initially wanted them to.  It could just be a change in the way windows open or don't open, or the look of a window.  Once employees started using these systems, they had many enhancements that they wanted as they saw some of the capability.


So not all of the benefits are ‑‑ would accrue as financial benefits, per se.  They could be ‑‑ some could be, very true, in that we improve the performance of our own employees, but it also could be an improvement on the way in which we deliver services, as far as the governance and monitoring, retaining information and being able to access information.


MR. MILLAR:  So are you speaking -- I guess it sounds to me like you're speaking about efficiency improvements, that type of thing.


MS. HOLDER:  They could be efficiencies for employees, which would be, for instance, if we wanted to change the way a window looked, or it could be that the way in which we store data, store information, may have changed, we found a better way of doing that, which wouldn't necessarily ‑‑ the customer wouldn't necessarily see, but we would have better governance, better controls within our own operation, which is to the benefit of the ratepayers.  


So some could be tangible, some could be financial, some may be intangible.


MR. MILLAR:  So if I understand what you're saying, there may be a mix.  There may some of it that may be direct financial benefits.  Some may be other less tangible benefits.


Are these other types of benefits accounted for anywhere in your application?  Can you give us a sense of exactly what types of benefits these may be?


MS. HOLDER:  No, we haven't.  I think the only place that I am aware of is when we talk about the objective of improving information flow.  That's a bit more the intangible benefits, but no specifics.


MR. CHIOTTI:  I did, in response to a question I believe from Mr. Shepherd yesterday, have the opportunity to reflect back on the four overriding objectives of the EnVision initiative. I believe those objectives actually were stated in the 2005 rate case evidence.  We didn't repeat those in this evidence, as this evidence really reflects just an update on the EnVision project.


Just once again, not to take more time, but productivity is a big piece, which is what generates invariably the tangible benefits.  Access to information has a certain tangible element to it, but a lot of intangible elements around safety, and so on.  Making customer commitments on first contact, being able to fulfil those customer commitments, is clearly a customer service objective that we have and could be treated as an intangible.


And then employee satisfaction and improving their ability to influence their work and simplify the work, and so on, that, too, ultimately can translate into a tangible benefit, but you know, also a lot of intangibles in that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And just to make sure I'm 100 percent clear, I do understand some of the benefits may be direct financial benefits that go to the ratepayer immediately.  Some may be more intangible.  But am I correct in saying that although you have added the 2 million -- almost 2 million to -- in fees to rate base, there hasn't been a corresponding change in this table to the benefits portion; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


Moving on to my second issue, can I ask you to turn to Mr. Warren's compendium, if you still have that?  I will be looking at Exhibit K3.2, and it is page 28 of Mr. Warren's.  It is under tab 1, I think.


MS. McCOWAN:  Sorry, what is the page?


MR. MILLAR:  It's page 28 at the top and it is ‑‑ it's a chart entitled "Benefits Measurement Plan", F 2004 to F 2006". 
This is really just a clarification question.  If I read this table correctly, I guess what we're seeing, it is showing the benefits that will ‑‑ benefits that will be accrued through the EnVision project for a certain number of items over the next ‑‑ well, from 2003 to 2006; is that correct?


MS. McCOWAN:  I would like to just make one clarification.  We stated in an interrogatory that the math, as HLB had pointed out on this, was incorrect and did not add up to the benefits as stated.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.


MS. McCOWAN:  Further, HLB had indicated that for a number of reasons they felt this was an inappropriate way to track benefits, largely because it is very difficult to see the degree to which they're influenced by EnVision.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, maybe this will be a very short set of questions, then.  Are you still planning on relying on this table?


MS. McCOWAN:  I would not say "relying on it".  High level metrics are important to us, in the sense that they allow us to track our performance relative to our peers, but what we have indicated - and I spoke yesterday about - a spreadsheet approach where we're able to get to a much greater level of detail and provide a lot more transparency to show exactly what benefits have been achieved and to make sure that they're attributed to EnVision or some other driver in our company.


MR. MILLAR:  So when we look at your budget for 2006

-- or your proposed budget, pardon me, and I see you have

-‑ looking at the chart again, in item 1 we have, for example, construction costs per new metre of main, and at least on this table I understand that this may be not be 100 percent what you're relying on now.  But for 2003, the costs per metre was $51.14, and if we go forward to 2006, the predicted cost was $44.85.  


At least for the purposes of this table, that's the pay-off for EnVision.  I guess that's the benefit that the ratepayer will be seeing because of EnVision.


When you were preparing your 2006 budget, the proposed budget, which will in turn go into the rate base, were you using the numbers from this table?


MS. McCOWAN:  Not from this table.  We were using the numbers from our benefit calculations, from the original business architecture, which would have shown the benefits to be -- well, originally 15.3, followed by 25 million.


So we used those numbers, and 90 percent of that number would have been put to the mains and services, 10 percent to our O&M account in EnVision.  So they are budgeted numbers built into our budget.


MR. MILLAR:  Right, okay.  But it was your 2006 numbers that went into the 2006 proposed budget?


MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, I'm sorry if I'm going over the same ground again.  Your consultant recommended that you not use the numbers in this table?


MS. McCOWAN:  Certainly not the numbers.  I've just said they're wrong.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Of course.  And the numbers that you did arrive at, were these ‑‑ how did you decide how the new numbers would be arrived at?


MS. McCOWAN:  The numbers that we have used in our budget are based on the original business architecture, and that shows the business stream as reflected in Mr. Chiotti's evidence, which is A6-5-2 and in the previous year.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MS. McCOWAN:  Same evidence.


MR. MILLAR:  Have you prepared a new chart that would reflect the new numbers?


MS. McCOWAN:  I have not, because, as I said, we're not going to take this approach to using the metrics -- or to measuring the benefits of EnVision.  What we will do is use that as a check, to make sure that we're seeing those benefits at high level numbers, but there are a number of influences on those high level numbers, as you can imagine.  


We have referred to a few of them, fuel prices, the strategic distribution alliance.  But what we really want to be able to do in order to drive the transparency that Mr. Bruce has referred to is to get to a much greater level of detail and show exactly what's been the impact of EnVision on our business.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Ms. Persad, would you like to re‑examine your panel?


RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. PERSAD:

MS. PERSAD:  Yes, I would, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.


First of all, panel, if I could ask you a question about some ground that Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson covered regarding Accenture's relationship with the company or any contracts that Accenture has with the company.


I would like to have the panel's comment on whether any of the decisions related to the EnVision project had any relation to the decisions that were made with respect to the Customer Care contract that CWLP has with Accenture.


MS. HOLDER:  I think I'm probably the best to answer that, and the answer is "no".


I, first of all, was not party to any discussions with Accenture on any other matters, other than the work management centre ‑‑ sorry, work management system.  Also, we really did choose Accenture because they were the best of the -- of those who bid on the project.  


I was never ‑‑ it was never suggested to me by anybody that we had to take -- go with Accenture.  As a matter of fact, I don't believe there was any discussion with any other executive, or even the president of the company, at the time on who to choose until we did our final analysis.  I then went to the executive and said we've chosen Accenture as our partner.


So there was definitely no relationship there with any other activity that Accenture may have with Enbridge.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  And, again, on the Accenture relationship issue, but turning to Mr. Bruce, Mr. Bruce, you indicated in your evidence, and you were asked about, any previous engagements that HLB would have had that involved Accenture.  And I was wondering if you could comment on what is meant by the comment that you made in your testimony that HLB worked with Accenture on a third-party basis.


Could you clarify for us what that means?


MR. BRUCE:  When I say HLB worked with Accenture on a third-party basis, what that typically means is that a company like Accenture -‑ and we do this, as well, for other firms, such as PWC and others, but there would be two parties.  It could be that in a situation where a company like Accenture is proposing a solution to another entity, such as a school board or a consortium of school boards, and so Accenture would be essentially trying to sell a solution, if you will, and the school board in that instance would be the potential buyer of the solution and we would act as third party in assessing the costs of the solution and the benefits of the solution and give an independent assessment as to whether that particular opportunity, if you want to call it that, is good value for the school board in this particular instance.  


So we would sort of act as third party to assess the business case, both benefits and costs.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, who, in a case like that, would have been the client of HLB? 


MR. BRUCE:  It really varies.  We're both engaged separately by ‑‑ in a particular case by the potential buyer of the solution, and sometimes, as happened in that particular case with the school board, it was easier for them to contract and we were actually under contract with Accenture.  So it works both ways.


We still act as independent third party, but because the one party -- it's easier for them to procure in that manner.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, can you comment on whether you are acting at arm's length from Accenture or whether it is a different arrangement?


MR. BRUCE:  For the two engagements that we're involved with here, we were contracted by Enbridge, and so we were totally arm's length from Accenture.  Through the processes that we went, we did interview some Accenture staff to get their perspective on benefits and the -- for specific questions about the contract.  But, you know, we were engaged by Enbridge, and, again, we did an independent assessment for both engagements.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  Panel, could I refer you to CCC 160?  It's a presentation that Mr. Warren referred you to in his cross‑examination.  I believe it is at page 154 of 475 of the attachments to that interrogatory, so it is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 160, page 154 of 475.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  We have it.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, this page speaks to some of the impacts, I believe, that were presented as impacts that may be experienced as a result of the EnVision project, or were being experienced.  And I'm wondering if the panel can comment on these metrics in relation to today's experience with EnVision and how ‑‑ how these metrics would look if they were measured today.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Well, first of all, from my perspective as the executive responsible for EnVision as a whole, I think we have made substantial improvements in, I think ‑‑ I know that we have made substantial improvements in all of these areas since the system went live in October of last year.  


So at a high level, that would be my response.  Lloyd, do you want to ...


MR. CHIOTTI:  First of all, I would absolutely agree with Mr. Pleckaitis's statements.  In fact, for any key metrics that we would have measured pre EnVision, those metrics are all back to at least the status that they were pre EnVision.  And, in fact, in some other areas we're now beginning to see the improvements that we would have anticipated with EnVision over the Legacy systems.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  Now referring to your evidence at Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2, page 2, paragraph 5, there was some question about the need to revert to manual procedures for certain processes, and I am wondering if you can comment on the extent to which the work today is by manual process or by using EnVision.


MR. CHIOTTI:  I will respond to that.  Specifically when we were talking about the need to revert to manual processes, that fundamentally occurred in the first few weeks post go-live.  And most of those instances, if not all, were associated with the database problems that we were having at that time, the obscure Oracle problem that I mentioned in response to one of Mr. Shepherd's questions the day before yesterday.  


When the system is down, clearly we need to continue to do certain things.  Of highest priority is responding to emergency calls.  We have well-developed manual procedures, that predate EnVision by decades, to make sure that we can do that, because our previous systems from time to time would crash, as well.


It was during that period of time that we would revert to those manual procedures, focus very clearly on making sure that we were responding to emergency calls, and it was at that time that calls, other than emergency calls, would not have had priority, are more difficult to deal with on a manual basis, and, therefore, we saw the impact of that on customers, in terms of missed appointments and so on.


I can't recall the exact date when we ceased to experience that situation, but it was literally within weeks of go-live.


MS. PERSAD:  So does that ‑‑


MR. CHIOTTI:  And today we're not reverting to manual procedures, unless there is the occasional glitch, and that is standard operating procedure.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  Now, if you could please pull up the exhibit that Mr. Warren filed as part of his cross‑examination, and I am going to refer you to page 50 of that.


MS. HOLDER:  Sorry, was that 5-0 or 1‑5?


MS. PERSAD:  Five-zero.


MS. HOLDER:  Thank you.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, I gave my copy of yesterday's transcript to the panel.  I don't need it back, but I think it is page 95 that -- Mr. Warren brought you to this page of this exhibit and asked you to comment on certain portions of it.  So you could pull that up, if you like.


I believe the first area that he asked you to comment on ‑‑ or not comment on, I should say he asked you to confirm that Mr. Stephens made these critiques in his evidence, was with respect to the first unnumbered paragraph on page 50 and, in Mr. Stephens' critique, that the selection process of selecting Accenture in this case was reasonable or whether -- that it was not reasonable, at least, in Mr. Stephens' assessment, and the consideration that it be open, fair and at arm's length.  


I'm wondering if the company has any comment with respect to Mr. Stephens' evidence in that regard?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I have one comment.  I have to admit I am somewhat puzzled by the questions that counsel for IGUA, maybe primarily, asked with respect to the relationship of Accenture or entering into the contract with Accenture.


And the reason I say that is it is my understanding that the intervenors last year agreed, through to the ADR process, that the EnVision project was the right thing to do; it was prudent.  The intervenors also clearly understood that the relationship of that contract was with Accenture.  


I don't understand today -- why today they're saying or challenging our questioning, or their consultant for one of the intervenors is questioning, Why this contract with Accenture?  You shouldn't have entered into this contract with Accenture.  If that was their view, they never should have signed off on that ADR last year.  


So maybe I'm missing something in the context of this, but that would have been the time to challenge that.


MS. HOLDER:  I think it is appropriate also for me to comment here in that I was the one who was responsible for the RFP process and the final decision to choose Accenture as our partner on this initiative.


I definitely disagree with what Mr. Stephens has presented here in evidence where he says that the selection ‑‑ he's alleging that the selection process was not open, wasn't fair and it wasn't at arm's length.


The process was open.  We did send an RFP out to a variety of potential bidders.  We had more than one response back.  Each response was unique in its own right, because that's often how these things happen.  We then had discussions with parties, and, at the end of the day, when we looked at the ultimate value that was going to be presented, we really felt that Accenture was the partner that we should be moving forward with.


And we've talked here a lot about the value, and I don't want to say that the costs were not part of it.  The costs were part of it, but the biggest part of it was that they were willing to put some money on the table and other parties had not come forward with that sort of proposal.  


They were willing to put the skin in the game, and that skin in the game gave us the confidence that we truly could receive the benefits that we wanted, because they weren't just going to hand us a product, hand us some processes, help us get rolling with these things, and then walk out the door.  They really cared whether ‑‑ or they were going to really care, by the time we got the contract finished, that the benefits were to be realized.  That also came into that value equation.


So the RFP was an open process.  The RFP response from Accenture did include all aspects of the contract that we finalized.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  Then Mr. Warren took you to page 57 of his compendium, and here he referred to the conclusions on that page.  They state that:

"Mr. Stephens felt it was clear from the evidence that the company did not assess alternatives to the Accenture FFT solution ..."


Et cetera.  Does the company have any comment on that?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Once again, we were looking for a service provider that we would forge a relationship with for an extended period of time to ensure that we were going to achieve what we were setting out to achieve in EnVision and someone who would have their ultimate interests aligned with ours, in terms of pursuing the benefits and what have you.


Our RFP was a broad RFP, requesting response from the bid list with respect to that broad objective of addressing state‑of‑the‑art work and asset management.  We had multiple responses.


The other respondents were not able to offer a field force transformation component, or did not present a field force transformation component in their offer.  So I think the RFP process left it wide open for the bidders that we were looking at to present that.  


We were not interested in, as I mentioned before, segregating the various components of this and going to different bidders for different components.  That would have fundamentally undermined one of the important objectives we had, one of the important objectives that we felt would ultimately drive the greatest benefit and ensure success in this initiative.


So, once again, I will repeat what Ms. Holder said.  We used a traditional RFP process.  It was a broad RFP.  It was open.  It was at arm's length.  It was fair.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  Then the final reference is page 63 of the compendium, again, under the "Conclusions" heading, which states that:

"The EnVision operation services costs are not reasonable, because Enbridge Gas Distribution did not evaluate any alternatives to the Accenture fees and the analysis estimates that the costs of operating the EnVision systems would be approximately $3 million per year, less costly ..." 


Et cetera.  Does the company have any comment about that? 


MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, once again, the company disagrees with Mr. Stephens' whole approach to addressing what we're proposing to do here.


It is a package deal.  There are inherent advantages and inherent benefits in having that package deal.  That was part of the strategy and the direction that we were taking in going at this.


His model that he developed to calculate and come to the conclusion of this $3 million is a model that is based on a host of assumptions.  It's also based on his interpretation of the services agreement.


As I stated in examination in‑chief, the company could certainly challenge those assumptions, and I'm very confident that we could argue strenuously against some of those assumptions.  However, we didn't feel that it was necessary to go there, because, once again, we disagree with his whole approach.


You can't take a package deal, and then take one component of that package deal and look at it purely from a cost perspective without looking at value and draw a conclusion and say you have to hive off that piece of the package deal and give it to somebody else.  It is just not appropriate.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  If I could add to that.  From my perspective, if we go down the road that is being proposed by Mr. Stephens of looking at elements of the cost of this contract and do not look equally at benefits that this contract brings to customers, and then, in total, the value, we get into an area of trying to, as Mr. Chiotti said, slicing and dicing the contract and trying to second guess individual decisions that the company might make through that process.


I think that if the Board goes in that direction where they would support the intervenors, we get into this dangerous area of micro management, which I think will make it extremely difficult for the Board to try to, on an on-going basis, assess whether the company did the right thing.


I believe the way we should be looking at this thing is from a customer perspective.  What is the customer impact overall of the company's decision?  The company entered into a major change management initiative, $123 million of costs, yes; with, yes, uncertainty, because there will be changes to those costs, as circumstances are not fully predictable, and a belief that the intervenors also accepted, when they accepted the fact that this was a prudent thing for the company to embark on, that those would deliver substantial benefits to the customers.


It is our responsibility - and we've already said that we will do that, and we will do that in a transparent way - to bring forward evidence on every rate case to show, Here's our costs that we've spent on this program and here's the benefits that we have realized.  


Putting the two together, in my opinion, if we achieve one dollar of benefits at the end of the day, that this is achieving benefit, that will have been the right thing to do from a customer perspective.  Not doing that would put us in a situation that we're right back to 33 Legacy systems which needed to be replaced, anyways, and say, Well, what do we do here?  


We had to move forward in this way, and, again, I believe that that is the appropriate approach.  As I interpret what HLB has said, that is the right way of approaching this thing:  Look at it from an overall benefit perspective, overall value perspective and judge that.

So ...


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  I just have a few more brief questions, and then I will be done.


Mr. Bruce, you were asked about the receipt of Mr. Stephens' evidence and your consideration of it when you received it.  And I understand that you received it sometime after the bid package was sent out.


But I would like to ask you to comment on, if you had received Mr. Stephens' evidence as part of the bid package, would that have changed your views about how you would have approached this work, in terms of the benchmarking that you did?


MR. BRUCE:  Absolutely not.  As I mentioned yesterday, after we were retained, we did receive Mr. Stephens' reports and we did take them into consideration in putting together our recommendations.


Again, from our perspective, Enbridge and Accenture committed to a value‑based deal.  We assessed the deal from a value‑based perspective.  I understand that, from what Mr. Chiotti said in the evidence in‑chief, that, you know, the RFP for benchmarking this assessment didn't just go out to HLB.  I understand that the other firms that Mr. Stephens was recommending received these and either didn't bid or said they couldn't do the analysis.


We looked at the analysis and decided that it should be looked at at a value-based perspective.  We do an assessment of the contract and the provisions to make sure it's sound.  We did an assessment to make sure that the appropriate governance structures were in place.  We made recommendations so that going forward it is evident to the Board that the ‑‑ what the benefits and costs of this initiative are, going forward so that it could be transparent, so that, at the end of the day, it will be well understood why this thing made sense or not; the EnVision project, that is.


So, I mean, I really -- I did consider Mr. Stephens' evidence, and I would have taken the same track whether it was attached at the time the RFP was sent to me, or not.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, thank you.  And in your opinion, what is the difference between fair market value that was referred to in cross‑examination yesterday and your comment about value to ratepayers, and what would be the implications of looking at the benchmarking on the basis you did in that comparison?


MR. BRUCE:  Well, a fair market value assessment, as defined in the documentation by Mr. Stephens, really essentially looks at the costs of an operational system, if you will, and trying to put forth a market‑based assessment of what those costs would be.


So my understanding, again, from the RFP responses that came in, the other entities indicated they couldn't do a fair market value assessment of this contract.


The fair market value assessment looks at the engagement or the contract, if you will, from a purely cost perspective.  The value assessment looks at the contract from a benefits minus cost assessment.  And, given that the terms of the contract were structured in such a way that both parties were incented to share in the benefits that the systems are to bring, again, we assessed it from that value perspective, value to the ratepayer; obviously, the excess of benefits less the costs.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  My final question is related to the accounting treatment, the 90:10 split between capital and O&M for EnVision when compared with DPWAMS, the 50:50 split that you were questioned about yesterday.  


I was wondering if the panel could please clarify, again, why the 90:10 split is more appropriate for EnVision as compared with the 50:50 for the DPWAMS?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Here, again, we're not dealing with a situation where we're talking about an IT capital.  We're talking about services that are provided that assist us in completing our work.


When we look at how to attribute the cost of those services, we looked at what components of work do those services contribute to, and what components of work will benefit from these services.


We did that analysis and came to the conclusion, based on that analysis, based on looking at individual pieces of work, that the benefits would ultimately relate to 90 percent of work that was capital and 10 percent of work that was O&M, and that's when we came forward in the 2005 rate case with that recommendation.


Reflecting back to the original 50:50 split, at that time we were in the early stages of this whole concept and thinking it through.  We had not done that detailed analysis of where the benefits were going to accrue.  So the 50:50 was a first cut.  You know, we understood and felt that there would be some kind of split between capital and O&M.  We didn't understand the exact detail at that time, and, in the absence of that detail and that validation, the appropriate split seemed to be to take a 50:50, but then we did subsequently do the analysis and had the time to do the analysis when we understood where the benefits were going to flow, and that's when we came back with the revised 90:10.


MS. HOLDER:  Just one quick comment to add to that.  The 50:50 was based on the DPWAMS project, which was only the first phase or the WAMS portion of EnVision.  EnVision has a different reach or different set of benefits flowing into it, far broader than that of DPWAMS.  That would also change your percentages if you were just looking at WAMS versus the whole project.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Just before maybe you close off, if I could, I just wanted to maybe have a follow‑up reply to the question that you asked Mr. Bruce with respect to the relationship with Accenture, from our perspective, as basically the client.


Yesterday, the questions that counsel for IGUA asked, related to this -- the Accenture relationship with HLB and suggesting that that -- as a result of those other assignments, that there was potentially undue influence or a non‑independent relationship between HLB and Accenture.  


I personally think, at least from my perspective, that is wrong.  I certainly have not seen any indication of that.  But maybe more fundamentally, I think it is important for the Board to understand the limited number of alternatives that we would have had, even had we known that this with was going to be an issue in this hearing.  


First of all, there are very few companies that can do the work that Accenture has done for Enbridge in this particular project, maybe half a dozen that would be capable of doing this.  Accenture is a major North American organization doing similar types of transformation projects with other utilities, other organizations, et cetera.  


Secondly, the types of consultants like HLB that do this type of benchmarking, there is a handful of those companies that are capable of doing that.  Compass, Gartner are two of the companies that I know of the intervenors felt we should have had on the bidder list and we did put on the bidder's list.  


I would be shocked if those same organizations, HLB and Gartner, do not also have similar work assignments in other jurisdictions in North America, also with Accenture.  


So we would be in a position of exactly going down the same road of, Who do we pick to do this assignment that doesn't have a relationship with Accenture?  And I don't know if Mr. Bruce wants to add anything to that.


MR. BRUCE:  No.  I mean, I think you're right.  Obviously in this industry, if you're looking at benchmarking these sort of IT transformation engagements, again, I would be, again, absolutely shocked if those other companies didn't have a relationship as was defined yesterday.  And I know from some of the past work we had done with Accenture, that they do purchase data specifically from one of the entities that was there.  


So, again, I don't think our position with Accenture is unique. 


MS. PERSAD:  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MS. NOWINA:  I have one question for the panel, and it goes to this 90:10 split, capital and O&M.  So let me paraphrase I think my understanding of what Mr. Chiotti told us.  


So 90 percent of the use of these new systems, the asset management and the field force automation systems, is by employees working on capital projects, main development, projects of that nature, and only 10 percent of the use is by employees working on operational projects; is that correct? 


MR. CHIOTTI:  Essentially, yes, it is.  And in that case, I just want to clarify that that doesn't necessarily pertain exclusively to field workers.  There are workers in the office, as well, whose activity is part of supporting the installation of those mains. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 


MS. HOLDER:  It's also not just employees.  It is the contractors as well. 


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you for that clarification.  Thank you.  Ms. Persad, you have no further questions? 


MS. PERSAD:  No, no further questions. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Thanks to this panel.  I believe that completes our questioning of this panel.  We will now take a break until 10:45, and, when we do, we will resume with the new panel on risk management. 


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you. 


--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:47 a.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Any preliminary matters before we begin with the next panel? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Just one minor housekeeping matter, Madam Chair.  As we slowly go through some of the transcripts, we have -- the witnesses have identified one further correction that's required.   This is in volume 2, at page 127, at line 16, the transcript indicates -- it's a response by Mr. Charleson.  It's reference to the earlier years in the transactional services and, indeed, in the year that was under discussion, the forecast revenues were only 1.2 million.  You’ll see Mr. Charleson refers -- or the transcript indicates that his answer referenced 6 million.  And, in fact, it should be ".6 million."  Is that correct, Mr. Charleson? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. O’LEARY:  Okay.  

     Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

     Any preliminary items from anyone else?  All right.  

     Mr. O'Leary, are you ready to begin with your next panel? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We are, Madam Chair.

     May I ask that you have Mr. Rubino sworn in, please.  

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 2

Fred Rubino; Sworn.

David Charleson; Previously sworn.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

EXAMINATION BY MR. O’LEARY: 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Turning to you, first of all, Mr. Rubino, could I ask you whether or not the evidence which has been filed by the company at tab A3, tab 3, schedule 1, and Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 2, and the interrogatory responses filed by the company -- were they prepared by you, or under your direction? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes they were. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And do you adopt them for the purposes of your testimony? 

     MR. RUBINO:  I do.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And Mr. Charleson, may I ask you, similarly, was the pre filed-evidence of the company and the responses to the interrogatories either prepared by you, or under your direction? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And you adopt that for the purposes of your testimony? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

     Madam Chair, this panel will be dealing with the risk-management issues, which are listed at issue 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4 of the issues list.  Perhaps I could first start by asking each of the members of the panel as to their roles in respect to the company's risk-management program.  Perhaps -- starting with you, Mr. Charleson.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I have overall responsibility for the execution of the risk-management program within Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This includes facilitating our risk-management committee meetings, and also the authorization of all of our risk-management actions.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And Mr. Rubino?  

     MR. RUBINO:  I'm the Manager of Supply Services within the Energy Policy and Analysis Department.  I report to Mr. Charleson.  With reference to risk-management, I’m responsible for updating and maintaining the risk-management manual, and providing the gas-supply risk-management committee -- supporting - excuse me – the

gas-supply risk-management committee, by ensuring the availability of reliable information.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     Could I ask you to summarize the history of the changes that have occurred to the risk-management program in 2005, and the involvement of the firm Risk Advisory, which assisted in the development of various recommendations?  

     MR. RUBINO:  In the RP-2002-0133 proceeding, the parties agreed to retain an independent consultant, pursuant to the settlement agreement, to review the company's risk-management program.  The details of the settlement are filed as part of the settlement proposal in that case, filed at Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, at pages 20 and 21, which indicate that there was a complete settlement on the issue.  

     The set the settlement proposal, in part, indicates that, and I quote: 

"All parties agree that, for fiscal 2002, Enbridge Gas Distribution followed the currently-approved parameters of the program.  As a result, all parties accepted the financial impacts of the program for fiscal 2002, as filed.  Enbridge Gas Distribution has agreed, at the request of the Board staff and certain intervenors, to retain an independent, third-party consultant to conduct a review and report on the program.  The consultant will be asked to assess the effectiveness of the program in meeting its objectives.   The consultant will also be asked to consider whether the objectives of the program, including hedging procedures, and the continuance of the program are in the interests of the ratepayers, and are appropriate practices for management of system-gas supply.”

     Intervenors participated in the scoping of the issues to be considered by the consultant.  All intervenors of record were asked to provide comments on the company's request for proposal.  Any comments received by intervenors were incorporated into the consultant's scope of work. 

     Risk advisory, a risk-management consulting company from out of Calgary, was chosen as the consultant to review the risk-management program.  

     The risk-advisory report was filed as part of the RP-2003-0203 proceeding, at Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 1.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And could you advise us briefly as to the findings of Risk Advisory?  

     MR. RUBINO:  Sure.  In the executive summary, Risk Advisory, in part, noted that, and I quote:

"Overall, Risk Advisory believes that the program objectives are generally sound.  Best industry practices have been put in place, and are being observed.  The program has been implemented consistently, and in the manner described to and accepted by the OEB and intervenor groups.  The interests of the ratepayers are clearly the focus of the program’s design."

     End of quote.   

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Rubino, do you recall whether or not, in the RP-2003-0203 proceeding -- whether or not a witness from Risk Advisory was part of the panel? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes, there -- 

     MR. O’LEARY:  Right.

     MR. RUBINO:  -- was one such witness.  Mr. Tim Smart.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And at the conclusion of that proceeding, can you summarize what the findings of the Board were?  

     MR. RUBINO:  In the RP-2003-0203 decision, the Board, in part, noted the following, and I quote, at paragraph 4.3.3:   

"The Board notes the evidence that only one major Canadian gas utility does not have a

risk-management plan.  The Board also notes the evidence that no utility that had adopted a risk-management plan had ever subsequently discarded its plan.”  

     Then, at paragraph 4.3.4:  

“The Board views the proposals before it as improvements to an existing program that have provided value to ratepayers.  No intervenor argued that the company should discontinue the risk-management program at this time.  As well, the Board approved the company undertaking a customer survey to assess customers’ risk-tolerance level with respect to risk management.”  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     Now, as a result of the Board's decision in that proceeding, can you advise what actions the company took?  

     MR. RUBINO:  The company retained a renowned Canadian polling firm with all the necessary experience and expertise to undertake the survey.  The company relied upon the expertise of Ipsos-Reid to help prepare the format of the survey, and on both Ipsos-Reid and Risk Advisory to prepare the questions for the customer survey.  

     The company advised Ipsos-Reid that the objective of the study was to address the customer-preference recommendations made in the risk-advisory report.  In part, this included obtaining a credible determination of what the customer preference for the threshold should be, determining customers’ expectations about gas prices and their sensitivity to price volatility, and understanding customers’ preferences for risk-management strategies, in general, and under different market conditions.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Now, in your communications with Ipsos- Reid, did the company express any expectation or preference, in terms of the result it wished or anticipated to see in the findings of the survey that it was asking Ipsos-Reid to conduct? 

     MR. RUBINO:  No, it did not.  The company never expressed any expectation regarding the results to Ipsos- Reid. Rather, it provided Ipsos-Reid with the objectives of the survey which I just indicated, and which flowed from the risk-advisory recommendations.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Rubino could you advise the Panel what it is, specifically, that the company is looking for approval from the Board at this time, in respect of the company's risk-management program?  

     MR. RUBINO:  There are two items.  

     The first is to increase the customer tolerance-threshold level from $35 to $75, in keeping with the findings of the customer-survey results.  

     And the second is to allow the company to include in its 2005 rate base the $930,000 required to convert the risk-management model to a database format.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Turning to the first item for which you are seeking approval, could you please provide a brief summary of the justification for the increase in the customer tolerance level? 

     MR. RUBINO:  First off, the Board approved the customer survey as part of its 2005 decision.  

     At the time of the first survey, the average cost of gas was $1.79 per gJ.  Today, it is forecast to be $6.71 per gJ for 2006.  Thus we were in dire need of an update to the customer survey.  The customer survey showed $75 was the threshold level that the majority of customers support, and the majority of customers supported that figure.  The company didn’t choose the $75 figure.  Given the significant increases in prices, and the passage of almost ten years since the previous survey, the company would have been surprised if parties did not expect the survey would likely result in an increase in the threshold.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And if the Board approves the increase in the customer-threshold level, what will the impact to the risk-management program be? 

     MR. RUBINO:  The result of increasing the threshold is that, with similar or equal market conditions, the company will be in a hedgible position less often, thus reducing the administrative burden of the program.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     In respect of the second item for which the company is seeking approval, could you provide a brief summary of the justification for the company advancing the request for the conversion of the risk-management model to a database format?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  The company is always monitoring the IT applications that it’s using, and the various tools it uses for performing its responsibilities.  

      And what we started to see was that we were -- we started to experience some challenges in operating the risk-management model.  It was a large Excel spreadsheet that had a lot of macros built in, a lot of code built in behind it, and we started to run into some difficulties, in terms of running it.  

     And so we felt it was something that needed to be dealt with.  And, as a result, we felt it was prudent to start to take action to deal with that -- the difficulties we were experiencing.  So whether Risk Advisory made a recommendation around a replacement -- or, say, the conversion of the model, or -- we still would have, you know, started to experience these problems and looked at what the most prudent course of action was to do that.  So we felt waiting until 2006 to start to do that introduced an unacceptable risk to our ability to manage the overall risk-management program, and felt that it was prudent to take action right away.  

     Now, it’s important to note that the conversion of the model won't, in any way, change the mechanics of the Board-approved risk-management program.  It’s really just trying to ensure that we have something that’s stable, and that has the flexibility for any future changes that may need to be made to the model 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  

     Finally, I would ask the panel if you have any comments in respect of the evidence filed by Energy Probe in this proceeding, which deal specifically with the company's risk-management program.  And that Energy Probe evidence is found at Exhibit L, tab 8, schedule 2.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Without providing a line-by-line review of the company's views, I would like to make the following high-level comments.  

     At page 11 of the Energy Probe evidence, it indicates that, and I quote:

“The applicant’s proposed changes to the administration of the risk-management would increase overhead costs by customers, but do not provide the perspective” - excuse me - “prospect of sustainable value to ratepayers.” 

End of quote.  

     This is not correct.  Raising the tolerance level from $35 to $75 will not in any way increase administration costs of the risk-management program.   In fact, the result of increasing the threshold is that, with similar or equal market conditions, the company would be in a hedgible position less often, thus reducing the administrative burden of the program.  

     At page 8 of --

“The Energy Probe evidence indicates that, as a result of including direct-purchase customers, the survey was predisposed to conclude that consumers favoured risk- management.”

The company disagrees with this assertion that the survey was biased.  Both system-gas and direct-purchase customers were included in the survey.  And the survey found that there were no significant differences between the responses of direct-purchase customers -- as compared to those of system-gas customers.   

     Finally, at page 8, the Energy Probe evidence indicates that:

"Not surprisingly, the study found that consumers who think that they are served under a direct-purchase contract profess opinions least tolerant of bill fluctuations." 

At page 33 of the attachment. 

     The attachment at Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 1, page 33, indicates that, in fact, those customers who are system-gas customers, but believe they're on direct-purchase are the most tolerant of bill fluctuations.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.  

     Madam Chair, those are our questions in-chief.  The panel is now available for cross.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Can I get an indication from the intervenors of who would like to question on this matter? 

     MR. WARREN:  I will, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren.    

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I will, as well, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Janigan.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, I will, as well, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I will, as well, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And I will, as well. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams.  

     Is the order we just took the names in appropriate for our order of questioning? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I believe that -- as I understand it, Mr. Janigan intends to go first; is that correct? 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Warren, I think, has about five minutes of questions.  He's going to go first, and then I will follow him.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And then I believe Mr. Adams will go next, and -- 

     MR. ADAMS:  After Mr. Janigan.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And then Ms. DeMarco. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Then Mr. Dingwall, then myself.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay, I think I have it.

     Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have only a few questions, and I want to focus on the evidence that's been introduced on behalf of Energy Probe.  

     There is a -- what I would describe as a “root-and-branch” critique of the risk management -- value of the risk-management program at Enbridge.  And I would like to get on the record, please, your response to what I regard as the most important elements of that critique.  

     In that context, if you could turn up, please, first, the pre-filed evidence of Mr. Adams.  And I’d like you to look at page 7 of 12 and, at the same time, page 11 of 12, because those two pages contain what I understand to be, essentially, the same critique.  And it is this, panel members.  

     On page 7, Mr. Adams says, and I quote -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’m sorry, Mr. Warren, if you could just hang on for a second, I'm --

     MR. WARREN:  Sure.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- I have it now.  

     MR. WARREN:  Actually, panel, this, I think, can be most efficiently done if we look only at page 11 of 12.  It's in the first full paragraph on the top of page 11.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have that.     

     MR. WARREN:  I will wait until the Panel Members, themselves, have turned it up.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We have it. 

     MR. WARREN:  I quote: 

“The current Board-approved objective, price-volatility suppression, duplicates a function that is already achieved more effectively through the QRAM process, the existence of the PGVA and its clearance over extended periods, and physical hedging through the operation of seasonal storage.  For customers unsatisfied by this level of smoothing, there is the equal-billing option.”

     As I understand that critique, what Mr. Adams is saying is that the risk-management program is, in effect, redundant.  It's unnecessary to achieve its aims.  

     I’d like, please, to get the company's response to that critique.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think we would -- well I don't think, I know we disagree with that critique of the program.  

     Our view is that, while the QRAM process, the use of the PGVA does have the effect of, say, smoothing some of the impacts, it is just, in essence, pass-through the actual costs that are incurred for acquiring the commodity at various points in times.  It doesn't do -- those tools don't do anything to actually mitigate the volatility of the prices that end up being paid by the company for commodity.  It just changes the, potentially, the timing of when customers pay for the volatility that may be experienced.  

     MR. RUBINO:  If I may add to that.  In last year's proceeding, there were -- we filed a series of interrogatory responses that showed the amount by which the hedge portion of our gas-supply portfolio -- the volatility in that part of the portfolio was significantly less than in the non-hedged portion.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, panel.  

     Would you then, please, turn to page 8 of Mr. Adams pre-filed evidence.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  We have that.  

     MR. WARREN:  What Mr. Adams has done actually, beginning on page 7 and then continuing on page 8, is that he has given instances for fiscal 2002, 2003 and then into 2005 -- given instances where the use of the risk-management system actually resulted in higher gas costs than would otherwise be the case.  

     He then concludes, in the first full paragraph on page 8, as follows:

“These instances of costs imposed on ratepayers due to risk management are provided not to suggest imprudence in the operation of risk- management programs, but to illustrate the cost burdens risk management can impose on ratepayers.”  

     My gloss on that -- or, my understanding of what Mr. Adams is saying is that, looking at these examples, the risk-management program, in fact, is counter-productive.  It costs ratepayers more.  

     I’d like, first of all, the company's response to that analysis.  Secondly, I’d like a response to what I take to be the implicit conclusion of Mr. Adams, that this is evidence as to why the risk-management program should be eliminated.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think the challenge you face with Mr. Adams' analysis is that it’s looking at isolated points in time.  And, again -- so, I guess, there’s two aspects that I want to deal with.  First, kind of looking at, just, points in time, in terms of how the risk-management program has helped to -- or the impact of the risk-management program on prices.   And then, also, looking again at the objective of the risk-management program, and perhaps I’ll deal with that first.  

     In the earlier reference from the report that you indicated, on page 11, it indicates there, clearly, that the current Board objective is price-volatility suppression.  It's not to -- it's not lowest prices.  

     So given that there is the potential that, at periods of time, the cost -- commodity cost will be higher as a result of risk-management activities.  However -- and I believe, in the proceeding last year, Mr. Smart from Risk Advisory testified that, over a longer period of time, the expectation would be that the impacts of the risk-management program should ultimately be cost-neutral, that, if you look - whether it’s a five- or looking over a

ten-year horizon, you're going to have some years where costs may be higher as a result of risk-management actions.  There will be years where the risks are lower.  But, in essence, the program should balance out.  The principle of the program is not to try to beat the market.   It is to mitigate and suppress volatility.  

     MR. WARREN:  My penultimate question -- if you could turn to page 12 of 12, of Mr. Adams’ testimony, the very last paragraph deals with the suggested threshold of $75 per customer, which is what you're proposing that the Board adopt.  

     Mr. Adams says -- and this is his alternative prayer for relief, says:

“In the alternative, if the Board is not moved to order the discontinuance of risk management entirely, the threshold target for the minimum PGVA balance should be raised substantially, at least $75 per customer, although 100 would be better, and 200, better still.” 

     Could I ask, please, for your response, if any, to the suggestion that the threshold should be at $100 or $200?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Our concern with moving the threshold beyond the $75 level is that, based on the customer survey and the research that we’ve done, this would move the threshold beyond the level that the majority of our customers support.  And so, as a result, we’re -- we would be concerned that we may be exposing -- or, not taking action in a time-frame or at a level that the customers that this program is designed to assist are indicating is important to them.  

     MR. WARREN:  In the course of your examination in-chief, you indicated, in response to a question from my friend, Mr. O'Leary, that one of the effects of moving the threshold to $75 would be to likely reduce the number of hedgible circumstances; is that right, Mr. Rubino? 

     MR. RUBINO:  That is correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Does it follow from that that -- if you increase it to $100 or $200, that you reduce even more the number of hedgible circumstances? 

     MR. RUBINO:  In similar circumstances, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And is it -- does it follow interest from that that the ability to control fluctuations -- or effect fluctuations is adversely effected by that? 

     MR. RUBINO:  It would be.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  

     My final question - and this really goes to the heart of Mr. Adams’ critique, and it's a prospective comment -- it’s found on page 11 of 12, in the third full paragraph, Mr. Adams says:

“Risk management provides no sustained value to ratepayers.  The applicants’ proposed changes to the administration of risk management would increase overhead costs borne by customers, but do not provide the prospect of sustainable value to customers.” 

     Now I understand, Mr. Rubino - and it’s on the

record - your comment on the administration charges.  

     But what I’d like you to address, panel members, is Mr. Adams' serious critique that the risk-management program does not offer the prospect of sustainable value to customers.  What is the company's position on that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We disagree strongly with that statement.  Our view is that, given that customers have indicated, through this survey, through the survey that was done ten years ago, that they have a desire for the company to take actions to mitigate some of their exposure to volatility, the customers value the actions that the company is taking.  And an ongoing risk-management program provides that sustained value.  Whether it’s a pure economic value, in terms of, you know, the program winning or losing in a given year, the sustained value is that there has been mitigation of volatility, which is what customers have indicated they are looking for the company to do.  

     MR. WARREN:  Just a final question, as a segue from that, Mr. Charleson and Mr. Rubino.  Leaving aside

Ipsos-Reid and the survey, is it the - and I'm not looking for any data on this -- does the company get calls from customers when prices are fluctuating significantly up and down? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Anytime there’s -- and again, I don't have the specific data, and I know you’re not -- you’ve indicated you're not looking for that, but, definitely, when price changes occur, our call volumes go up.  

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren. 

     Mr. Janigan?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN: 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, I believe Mr. Charleson, in cross-examination with Mr. Warren, indicated that the - excuse me - the goals of the risk-management program were altered in the decision RP-2003-0203, such that the reduction of price volatility became the principal objective; is that correct? 

     MR. RUBINO:  That is correct.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  And, in fact, sort of, the co-objective -- or, the accompanying objective that would formulate part of the risk-management program to have customers share in price decreases in the market, one which was imported into the risk-management program in the ‘90s, was eliminated, as a consequence.   

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.     

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I would note that my client, VECC, opposed that recommendation and, as well, the recommendation with respect to the change in hedgible volume, but, otherwise, supported the risk-management program.  Is that your understanding, as well? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I’d like to address, as part of the consideration under issue 6.2, the status of the implementation of the Risk Advisory recommendations in table 1, which is found in the Consumers Council of Canada Interrogatory No., Table 1.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes, I have it.  

    
MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have that?  Now, have all of the items that are set out in table 1 been implemented?


MR. RUBINO:  Just a moment.  No, they have not, not all of them.  Number 8, which is to remove the 10 percent limit, the company last year agreed that it would ‑‑ while the Board approved that, removing that restriction, the company indicated that it wouldn't do so until it received the results of the customer survey.


MR. JANIGAN:  Apart from number 8, have all of the rest of the -- those recommendations in table 1 been implemented?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, they have.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, there is another list of items from Risk Advisory that is set out on -- in evidence at A3, tab 3, schedule 2, and it's an update from the Consumers Council of Canada interrogatory.


MR. RUBINO:  Just a moment.  Yes, I have it.


MR. JANIGAN:  Actually, I stand corrected.  The CCC IR is the update from the evidence, obviously.


MR. RUBINO:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Janigan, what was the reference again, I'm sorry?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry.  It's Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 2.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  And it's updated again, if you keep your finger at CCC IR 11.  Now, as I understand it, these items are to be implemented in 2005, as well as 2006; am I correct on that?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, are you seeking approval for the cost consequences of the implementation plans for 2005 as these may affect 2006 rates?


MR. RUBINO:  We're not seeking approval for the $60,000 in the lower part of that table.  We're seeking approval of the $930,000 be included as part of the 2005 rate base.


MR. CHARLESON:  Just to be clear on that, to the extent that that $930,000 is already incorporated within the Board‑approved IT capital budget for 2005, in essence, the ‑‑ those costs would already have been expected to be put forward into ‑‑ a little music.


MS. DeMARCO:  Apologies.


MR. CHARLESON:  So the expectation is that they have already been factored in, so we're not looking for something that goes beyond, say, the Board‑approved IT capital budget for 2005.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, just with respect to that $930,000, you've indicated, in part, where that budget item approved -- is listed in this proceeding.  Can you give a break-down of what are the O&M costs and what are the capital costs associated with that $930,000?


MR. CHARLESON:  The 930,000 is all capital.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is all capital?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the items that are sought to be implemented this year, is it fair to say that the cost consequences are only for the 2006 year, or do they have cost consequences rolling forward?


MR. CHARLESON:  Obviously, given there is a capital component, it will have cost consequences going forward, given that the depreciation expense would span a number of years.  There would also be some ongoing maintenance costs associated with the conversion of the risk management model.


MR. JANIGAN:  So if I can segregate the costs on a year-by-year basis, can you give me a break-down on a year-by-year basis of what the costs will be, going forward?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's probably something that's best done through an undertaking.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If I could get an undertaking on that, please?


MR. BATTISTA:  So that will be undertaking J5.2, and we'll characterize that as the risk management model costs.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  RISK MANAGEMENT MODEL COSTS, IMPACTS ON FUTURE YEARS

MR. CHARLESON:  Impacts on future years.


MR. BATTISTA:  Impacts on future years.  We're just trying to keep them short.


MR. CHARLESON:  But I just want to provide the clarity.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I note that one of those costs, as set out in A3, tab 3, schedule 2 in table 1, there's plans for a customer focus group survey, which will require additional costs.  I take it those will be set out in the undertaking, will they?


MR. RUBINO:  No, they will not be.  The costs of the customer survey were requested and the Board indicated ‑‑ the Board indicated that those costs should be managed within our O&M.  So we're not seeking recovery of those costs, as per last year's decision.


MR. JANIGAN:  I believe, though, isn't there plans for an additional focus group survey in table 1 -- I'm sorry, table 2? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Are you referring to item 16?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.


MR. CHARLESON:  At this time, we haven't identified any incremental costs associated with doing that work.  It may not be a survey, and we're looking at what approaches can best be used to educate and inform the Board and intervenors.  It is not an overall customer education.  


So to the extent there are incremental costs that we identify associated with that that we need to incur within 2006, we're going to have to manage that within our currently requested O&M level.


MR. JANIGAN:  So together with what you've told me here in the evidence filed on the undertaking, I should have a full picture, then, of the costs and the timing of the risk management program?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I have some questions with respect to the timing of the completion of these changes and the risk management program for system gas and its relationship with the ongoing issues in the Natural Gas Forum.  


I take it you're aware of one of the issues that will be dealt with is the role of the gas distributors as a supplier of natural gas?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, within the Natural Gas Forum report, one of the areas in that report dealt with system supply, and the report indicates ‑‑ I won't pull up the quote from it, but our read on the report is that it does endorse the continuation of system supply as a default option for customers.


MR. JANIGAN:  And, for example, if the result of that was that the gas distributor was not to be the provider of system gas, I would assume that there would be no need for utility risk management?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Given that the risk management program is strictly associated with the acquisition of system supply, if system supply weren't available, the program wouldn't be needed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Accordingly, why is it important to implement the remainder of the risk advisory changes now, as opposed to waiting for the Board to address the issue in the Natural Gas Forum generic hearing on system gas?  Why couldn't the status quo be maintained?


MR. CHARLESON:  If you can just give me a moment on that, I just want to check something.


It's my understanding and interpretation of the Natural Gas Forum report that there is no further proceeding or review regarding the continuation of system supply.  The proceedings that are to arise from the Natural Gas Forum report related to system supply are more regarding the cost allocation, so the allocation of costs to system supply, and the further unbundling of system supply, so the way that -- basically, the segregation of supply, system supply for system gas customers from the load balancing supply and that that is what the generic proceeding is intended to focus upon.


Also, there would be a generic or some process undertaken to develop the pre-approval process or the guidelines around the pre-approval process for long‑term contracts.  But, again, my read on the report is that the Board doesn't contemplate undertaking any further actions to assess the continuation of system supply.


MR. JANIGAN:  So in Enbridge's view, they will continue in that role ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  ‑‑ for the foreseeable future.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks.  I would like to turn to your customer survey briefly.  And you noted in cross‑examination with Mr. Warren some of Enbridge's response to the critique that was made by Energy Probe's evidence in relation to the survey.


My question is:  Regardless of the correlation of the results between direct purchase customers and system gas customers, why were they included in the survey?


MR. RUBINO:  We've provided an IR response to that, and just give me a moment.  I will find it.


MR. JANIGAN:  I think it may be VECC IR 30.


MR. RUBINO:  I don't believe so.  Maybe that ‑‑ sorry.  Sorry.


MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps in the absence of me being able to turn that up directly, the inclusion of direct purchase customers, one of the facts for including them within there is they're direct purchase customers today, but who knows what their future plans may be regarding direct purchase and system gas. 


They have the ability, when their contracts come up for renewal, to determine what their source of supply may be.  And so as they move between those options, you know, their input is valuable that way.  Also, it provides a representation of the entire customer base and just overall expectations of the marketplace.  


And I think what is interesting to note, and as Mr. Rubino I think mentioned in his examination in‑chief, is that the survey really ‑‑ the survey results don't really differ a great deal between the desires or the expectations of our direct purchase customers versus the system gas customers, which I think helps to reinforce the fact that customers are going to choose what's right for them at the time when they can make contracting choices, and what's happening in the market isn't really ‑‑ isn't really tied to what their existing contractual relationship is.


MR. JANIGAN:  Are there any results that indicate that non‑equal billing customers are or are not more or less concerned with price volatility?


MR. CHARLESON:  Nothing that we're aware of.  I think you have to be careful when you look at equal billing as considering that to be a means of smoothing or removing volatility.  All it is is -- equal billing plan just really is -- can potentially change the timing of when people are going to have to pay for that volatility.


Ultimately, their supply costs are still all going to be billed within there, and at the end of the year when -- depending on whether there is a credit or debit balance on their equal billing, over a 12-month period they are going to pay the full cost of that supply.


MR. JANIGAN:  So in your opinion billing ‑‑ equal billing or non‑equal billing should not affect the results of the survey?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would be surprised if they did.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in relation to the Compass survey, which you enclosed as an attachment to the VECC IR response, number 28, as I understand it, the average commodity price at the time of the survey was about $1.79 a gJ?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And is the $6.71 a gJ for 2006 still valid, based on the July QRAM?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't have the precise information, but my estimate would be that, based on the July QRAM ‑‑ on July ‑‑ I guess it will have changed from there, but whether it's gone up or down is difficult to say.  I would say based on, say, the potential October QRAM coming up, it is probably low.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Can I get an update on that, on that price, if possible?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. JANIGAN:  As well, is it possible as well to have an apples-to-apples comparison between the 1995 price and the current price so that either you express the 2006 price in 1995 dollars, or the 1995 price in 2006 dollars, whichever is the most convenient?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give that undertaking number J5.3 and characterize it as gigajoule update and entry year comparison.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  GIGAJOULE UPDATE AND ENTRY YEAR COMPARISON

 MR. JANIGAN:  Finally, one last question.  One thing that struck me in the survey, the Ipsos-Reid survey, was the change effect that occurred when customers were asked whether or not a price decrease of 50 percent might change their opinion.  I think it was 64 percent of respondents said that a price decrease of 50 percent would change their opinion about risk management, based upon that occurrence.


Does the current or proposed risk management program incorporate that expectation in any way?


MR. RUBINO:  No, it does not.


MR. JANIGAN:  How do you respond to an expectation like that?


MR. RUBINO:  There are market forces that influence the price that are beyond our control.  So we all hope for a 50 percent decrease, but ‑‑


MR. JANIGAN:  To some extent, that is supportive of the objective that was eliminated in the last proceeding; would you not agree?  


MR. RUBINO:  The reason that that objective was eliminated, risk advisory -- it was one of risk advisory's recommendations, and we agreed.  They indicated that it was beyond the scope of our risk management program to be able to capture lower prices on a consistent, ongoing basis, and that it was unreasonable to maintain or keep that objective.


MR. CHARLESON:  I think, again, looking at the findings in the survey, I think if you told anybody, Well, if you had the chance to achieve some savings, would you want the company to act differently?  I think everybody would say, If you're going to save me money, yeah, let me save as much money as I can.  But as soon as you say, But if there's a similar risk that you could go up by 50 percent, would you see that same action? 


So I think when presented with a scenario where it is only a downward price movement that is contemplated, I think all reasonable people would say, Yeah, I want to take advantage of that savings.  But nobody can guarantee what direction the prices will move.


But also - and as Mr. Rubino indicated - you know, for the ‑‑ for an objective of the program to be -- to try to beat the market consistently is something that, as risk advisory indicated, is perhaps a false hope or false expectation, in that, you know, if we have people that are able to consistently beat the market, they're likely to be doing private trading and keeping a lot of that money for themselves.


 MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions of this panel, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Adams, how long do you think you will be?


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, I anticipate that I will be under an hour, but perhaps greater than 45 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Greater than 45 minutes.  So if we're looking at the clock, that means a break at 12:30.  I'm contemplating having an early break now for lunch, and then doing your examination afterwards.


MR. ADAMS:  I would be happy to accommodate.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that and return at 1 o'clock?  We will adjourn now until one o'clock.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 11:40 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Before we begin, Mr. Millar, I believe you have a preliminary matter.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  There is one matter, Madam Chair.  Over the lunch break, we received from Enbridge, and I assume all the intervenors received a copy, as well, of a proposed schedule going forward.  And I only have looked at this briefly, but it appears to me ‑‑ maybe Mr. O'Leary may have some comments on this, as well.  


It appears that not all of the intervenors have responded to Enbridge with time estimates as to how long they'll be with particular panels or whether, in fact, they actually need the appearance of all of the panels.  Again, I haven't actually spoken with Enbridge or any of the intervenors about this, so I am just looking at what the document indicates.  


And I am wondering -- I know we only have a couple of the intervenors actually here today.  There may be a few more listening in over the webcast, but I am wondering if the Panel would like to address this or if Mr. O'Leary would like to say anything more on this issue.  


Mr. O'Leary, am I correct in saying that we're still waiting on some responses?


MR. O'LEARY:  What we see, Madam Chair, Mr. Millar, is the work in progress as it presently exists, and we have attempted to identify the responses that we've received to this point.


I should indicate that there are some dates on here which we understand that the Board Panel are unavailable, but they were made known to us after the template had been forwarded, so it has remained as the same template.  But what ‑‑ the version that has been circulated is the information that we have as of this point in time.


MS. NOWINA:  I won't ask the intervenors present to comment, because there are so few of them it probably would be unfair, given that there are no others here.


I would like to make some comments, though, and, Mr. Battista, if you could make sure that the others are aware of my comments through your e‑mail later this afternoon.


I have to say that it is totally unacceptable, at this stage of the hearing, for us not to have a schedule to go forward.  This is a very significant hearing.  It has a very large resource requirement for all of us.  All of us have other things we have to do, as well, and we have to plan our time.


So that said, I would like to instruct the intervenors to, this weekend, get the estimates of their questioning on these panels to Enbridge.  As well, I am hoping that they will identify panels that they do not wish to question.


With this information, I expect Enbridge on Monday to present a schedule which shows the dates that we have identified and combines panels where possible.


Now, I accept that this early in the proceeding, with all that we have to do, that schedule will likely change, as well.  It will certainly give us a more realistic picture than we have today.  Any questions?


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I don't know if it is appropriate at this time to ask a specific scheduling-related question.  I'm in your hands.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


MS. DeMARCO:  TransAlta hopes to travel in from Calgary for the rate 300 series panel, so to the extent there was at least closer the certain -- possibly one of the 23rd or 24th, it would be of great assistance.  If that is not possible, we're certainly in the Board and the applicants' hands here.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, do you have a sense of that?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, as you are aware, the policy panel will be first up on Monday morning, and the estimate given for that panel is eight hours, which, if intervenors have questions of that duration, would put us into Tuesday.  The plan is to have the rate 300 panel follow the policy panel, so our best guess at this time is that we would be presenting the rate 300 panel at some point on Tuesday.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have responses from intervenors on how long their questioning for those ‑‑ for the policy panel will be?


MR. O'LEARY:  That is the total that's ‑‑ the policy panel, you will see from the print-out that was circulated, the estimate at this time is eight hours.


MS. NOWINA:  I just want to know how informed that estimate is.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm advised we have received input from some intervenors, but we don't believe we've received input from all intervenors.  I may be able to give you an update on that answer if we break today and come back, but, at this time, that's the best of our information.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, on that point, the intervenors had a meeting earlier in the week and discussed the policy panel.  Most of the active intervenors were represented at that meeting.  The exceptions I can't think of right now.  But there was an estimate that was assembled, some areas of questioning that were divided up at that time.  


So I believe that that may have been input to Enbridge, possibly through Mr. Thompson.


MR. DINGWALL:  To clarify that, what we're looking at, I think, is two processes.  The first process was a meeting that occurred that Mr. Adams is making reference to, subsequent to which a number of time estimates, including for the past week, as well as for most of the issues that cover next week, including corporate cost allocation, as well, were provided to Enbridge.


The second process is the mechanistic process whereby some people who have been travelling have not had ‑‑ may not have had access to their e-mail and may not have had the opportunity to respond to this, the mechanistic process.  So there are estimates out there beyond this, Madam.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Dingwall, it is your impression the eight hours for the policy panel is the estimate that the intervenors expect?


MR. DINGWALL:  I can't confirm that.  It was Mr. Thompson and Mr. Shepherd who put together the aggregate of the time estimates in the physical meeting, and then presented that to Enbridge.  I don't know whether that specifically correlates to the same number as what is in the mechanistic estimate which is put before you.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I might be able to be of some assistance.  It is my understanding that, for that panel, the intervenors collectively were estimating a day and a half.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  Again, that is subject to final check by Mr. Thompson and Mr. Shepherd.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, do you anticipate significant examination in‑chief of that policy panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  Again, Mr. Cass, who will be handling that panel - I think he indicated would be dealing with them this morning - is the person that I should ask to respond to that question.  And I am prepared to provide you with an update this afternoon, if possible, but I would anticipate ‑ and this is my guess ‑ is that there will be some evidence in‑chief.  So that would be over and above any of the cross‑examination time that is anticipated.


MS. NOWINA:  So it would be over and above the eight hours?


MR. O'LEARY:  If the estimates of my friend, Ms. DeMarco, of a day and a half translates into eight hours, then there would be something in addition to that.


MS. NOWINA:  My calculations tell me that there is some risk of us reaching the Series 300s by Tuesday afternoon.  So, Ms. DeMarco, in answer to your question, that's what it looks like to me at this moment.  Hopefully Mr. O'Leary will have some further updates for us, and hopefully by Monday ‑‑ not hopefully.  By Monday we will have a much clearer picture.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  You're welcome.  Mr. Adams.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 2; RESUMED

Fred Rubino; Previously sworn.

David Charleson; Previously sworn.

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:  

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  This marks something of a break point between the cross‑examinations of those intervenor groups friendly to risk management and those with concerns.  Energy Probe is appearing today representing its residential customer supporters in Ontario, which we have some number of thousands.  We're also representing a broader public interest concern with respect to the overall financial health of our utilities.


In preparation for today's questioning, we tried to circulate to the utility, late on Wednesday night, something of a summary of some of the materials from evidence that we're going to be drawing upon.  Unfortunately, that list is not quite comprehensive, so there may be a couple of additional items that we will have to draw upon.  But in addition, we've circulated a document that's just simply for the convenience of cross-examination, to try and reduce the amount of paper flipping, provides a compendium of some of the references that we will be drawing on, as well.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  

     We will give that an exhibit number.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  And that's Exhibit K5.1, and it will be characterized as “Energy Probe's Documentation, Gas-Supply Risk-Management Program.”  

EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  ENERGY PROBE’S DOCUMENTATION,

GAS-SUPPLY RISK-MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

     MR. ADAMS:  And again, there is nothing new in that package, it's simply matters drawn from the evidence.  

     For the benefit of the panel and the Tribunal, I’ll just perhaps outline the areas that we seek to canvass in questioning, to help you follow along.  The first that area we're going to address is governance of the risk-management enterprise in the utility; the purpose of risk management;  some questions related to IT development; costs of the overall service for risk management;  some questions on the surveys.  We're going to seek clarification with respect to the hedgible volumes.  And finally, we have a brief series of questions with respect to management oversight.  

     With that introduction, I will turn to our questions.  

     And my questions are directed at both panelists, and please, both, feel free to contribute your insights.  

     This morning, in your evidence in-chief -- or, perhaps, in questions from Mr. Warren on behalf of his intervenor group, you described a committee that oversees the operation of the utility's risk-management operations.  I wonder, can you describe for us the number of representatives on that committee.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Give me just a moment, I will look for that.  There are seven members.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  And I guess, just for clarity’s sake, those seven members are senior management within the organization.  It includes our Vice-President of Opportunity Development.  It includes our -- and I don't have his full title correctly, but Vice-President of Public Affairs and Government Relations.  The Assistant Treasurer, the Vice-President of Finance and Administration and the Assistant Director of Regulatory Affairs.  And then, also, the Director of Financial Risk-Management within Enbridge Inc.   So those are the actual committee members.  

     And then, in support of the -- those committee members, there are also participants within the committee meetings, which include myself, as I think I indicated this morning, the facilitator for those meetings, Mr. Rubino, and -- as well as individuals out of our finance group and also out of the Enbridge Gas Services -- the people that execute the risk-management activities within Enbridge Gas Services.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So, looking at this total group of participants in this committee activity, there are seven formal members, but a support team, as well.  Can you estimate the number on the support team? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say, probably, between five and seven.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Do I understand that these are all utility employees?  There are --

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  There are -- some the people are -- as I indicated, one of the actual committee members is an Enbridge Inc. employee.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  And then one of the -- at least one of the support people is an Enbridge Gas Services employee today, but, following repatriation, would be an Enbridge Gas Distribution employee.  So following repatriation, there would only be the one committee member that would be from Enbridge Inc.  

      MR. RUBINO:  No -- if I may, there are two -- just a moment.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I need to correct myself, here.  It’s -- there’s also the -- yes, there are actually two from Enbridge Inc., out of our treasury group.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  That's two on the committee, itself, or on the support team? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Two on the committee, itself.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Are there any consultants that have any regular role with the committee or its support group? 

     MR. RUBINO:  There are not.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  So how frequently does the committee, itself, meet? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Once a month.  It’s mandated to meet once a month.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  But in addition to that, if there is a determination that there is a need for special meetings between those monthly meetings, those are held, as well.  I would say, in the past year, there's been three such meetings.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And does the support team meet on a regular basis, as well, separate from the committee, itself? 

     MR. RUBINO:  The support team has ongoing discussions and exchange of information amongst itself in advance of the meetings, but doesn't have any formal meetings in advance of the gas-supply risk-management committee meeting, itself.  It does not.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So the gas-supply risk-management committee -- does it maintain minutes?  Or just general notes of its operations? 

     MR. RUBINO:  It has minutes.  It maintains minutes.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So, on the gas-supply risk-management committee, who is the most senior representative of the utility? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Well, there's a series of vice-presidents, but the chair is the Vice-President of Opportunity Development.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So is he, ultimately, responsible for the risk-management --

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes, he is --

     MR. ADAMS:  -- committee's work? 

     MR. RUBINO:  -- yes, he has executive responsibility.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And who would he report to? 

     MR. RUBINO:  He reports directly to Jim Schultz, the President.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Now, I wonder if you can just help us understand the nature of the questions that this committee is dealing with.  It is my understanding that, at any point in time, the utility might have a substantial value represented in its hedging portfolio; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So what's a, kind of, reasonable range of numbers -- what -- for the value in that hedging portfolio? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Subject to check, it's between $100 million and $150 million.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, is there -- I should know an answer to this question, but I actually don't.  Is there an internal audit function at Enbridge?   And does the internal audit function have oversight with respect to the risk-management activities? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There is an internal audit function within Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It would have the same oversight of that committee as it would have over any other function being performed within the organization.  

     That being said, over the past number of years, I don't recall any internal audit -- having conducted a formal audit of the risk-management program.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Specifically, on risk management? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Specifically, on risk management. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Right, right.  But is there some kind of cycle for internal audit?  Are they coming to you, eventually? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Not that we're aware of, but we are not party to the audit schedule, so --       

MR. ADAMS:  Right, right.  

     You touched on this repatriation question that's changing the -- to some extent, the governance issues, but -- changing the specific composition of the governance group --  

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  It doesn't change the composition, that I would see, of the governance group, because it’s not -- it changes, say, the composition of the support group, because it’s one of the support-group people that would move from Enbridge Gas services to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  But, in terms of the actual formal committee members, it doesn't change any of the reporting relationships for those individuals.    

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you for that.  This governance structure, has it had basically the same shape for the last few years or have there been major changes in it? 


MR. CHARLESON:  There's been some minor changes.  Like, over the past few months that we -- the vice president of operations had been a member of the committee.  They have now been replaced by the vice president in public relations and government affairs, assuming that is his correct title.  But beyond that, the remainder of the committee has remained generally static.


MR. ADAMS:  So we'd have to conclude from this presentation that you've made here that senior representatives of the utility are paying close attention.  This is a highly supervised activity at the highest level of the utility; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I think that is fair.  Risk management is ‑‑ the risk management program is viewed as something that is important to our customers, in that there are significant costs involved and that it warrants that level of attention.


MR. ADAMS:  Does the company feel that the size of the financial commitments here is something that requires close supervision?


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess I can't speak specifically to what are the -- say, the main drivers or the key drivers, in terms of what dictates the level of governance, but I would definitely assume that given the dollars involved and the size of the transactions that can be part of this, that it would be a significant factor in the level of governance.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you for that.  I want to turn to the area of the purpose of the risk management program.  For those of us who have been around this subject for some years, you will remember witnesses from the utility speaking to the need for the utility to maintain flexibility in the operation of its risk management program.  The purpose of that flexibility was often described as providing the utility an opportunity to take advantage of opportunities that were identified in the marketplace.


Can we agree that whereas the original purpose of the risk management function was two‑fold - that was to minimize the commodity costs for customers and to achieve smoothing of price - that since the report of the firm called Risk Advisory last year, the scope has been refined to address smoothing only?


 MR. RUBINO:  Just a moment.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RUBINO:  The original purpose was to focus in on mitigating risk, mitigating price volatility. 


MR. ADAMS:  So the purpose was never to take advantage of opportunities in the market?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't think the purpose was ever to take advantage of price opportunities in the market.  Part of the purpose had been to ‑‑


MR. RUBINO:  Just a moment.  Sorry.


MR. CHARLESON:  Okay.  I guess in looking at it in terms ‑‑ I guess the risk-management program itself or the risk-management activities themselves weren't necessarily designed to allow customers to take advantage of those shifts in the market.  However, the proportion of the hedging was designed in such a way to allow customers to take advantage of those opportunities within the market.  


Then the other objective that obviously was in there was to try to avoid unacceptable price increases, but, again, now we have focussed it back in on mitigating the price volatility.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Thank you.  Now, this morning you commented, with respect to the testimony previously of the Risk Advisory Group in questions from Mr. Warren, that over the long‑term, under the current structure for the program, as recommended by Risk Advisory and as approved by the Board, one would anticipate that the results would be -- and I think you used the phrase "cost neutral"?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  That neutral cost, was that with respect to revenue neutrality for the utility, or commodity cost neutrality with respect to the costs that might otherwise appear in the market?


MR. CHARLESON:  It was with respect to commodity cost neutrality, so the costs that customers are going to incur related to commodity.


MR. ADAMS:  So the hedging does not attempt to change the ultimate costs that the customer bears for commodity?


MR. CHARLESON:  Not over the long term.


MR. ADAMS:  Over the long term, right.  Thank you.  


Now, the evidence of the utility, and your presentation today, hasn't spoken at all to any potential benefits that might arise for shareholders.


Are there any direct benefits for shareholders reflected in the design of the risk-management program?


MR. RUBINO:  There are none, direct.


MR. ADAMS:  So the risk-management activity is outside, to some extent, the normal profit-making activities of the utility; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would say just the commodity supply is something where costs are generally viewed as a pass‑through cost.  To the extent that it helps to allow customers to have comfort, in terms of the cost and the use of natural gas, it does support, say, the revenue objectives of the utility through the utilization of the distribution system and the growth of our distribution volumes.  


But in terms of, say, commodity costs, they're strictly a pass‑through.  There is no revenue generated from there.  But the costs that customers see for that may or has the potential to impact the utilization of our distribution system, which does have revenue impacts, just for clarity.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  This notion of risk management activity that's conducted on a purely flow-through basis, this is a characteristic of a regulated utility.  If you were not a regulated utility, the design of your ‑‑ any risk management that you might undertake would not be something similar to this?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think that would become highly dependent on the risk profile of the organization and what risk it was willing to bear.  Each organization will make its own determination, in terms of what risk it is willing to bear in its operations, and will implement the risk management program that it feels satisfies that risk profile it is willing to accept.


MR. ADAMS:  I appreciate that.  Would you agree with me that the risk-management program now is something akin to an insurance program, except that the utility that's providing this insurance service is not adding any mark-up and simply seeking to recover its costs?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHARLESON:  I think ‑‑ I want to be careful in terms of drawing the parallel to insurance programs.  To an extent, it does have some similarities to insurance, and I think in our customer survey we used some parallels to insurance as a means of helping the general consumer understand different types of hedge instruments.  


I think the difference that we see with the risk- management program for insurance ‑‑ with insurance, you pay a premium trying to protect you against a future loss or an event that may cause you to incur costs in the future.


However, it doesn't necessarily provide you with an opportunity to benefit in the future.  You pay your premium and you hope ‑‑ you hope you never have to claim on your insurance, but, if you do, it's there to protect from that.  


When we're looking at risk management, it's to mitigate volatility.  So it is ‑‑ provides a degree of protection against say increase in costs but it also still allows, to an extent, some benefits from a decrease in costs.  So I just want to be careful, in terms of trying to head down a path where we say there is a tight parallel to insurance, and just recognize there are some differences in that way.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, perfectly fair.  One similarity is that the utility does incur some overhead costs associated with operating this, and those are added to the charges that are recovered from system-gas customers. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's right.  There are some costs associated with administering. 

     MR. ADAMS:  But there is no profit element arising in this -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There is not. 

     MR. ADAMS:  -- no -- no financial incentives for the utility. 

     MR. RUBINO:  No, none.  

     MR. ADAMS:  That's fine.  

     Now, with respect to the software program, the -- it was discussed several times already in evidence, about the $930,000 program.  There is an undertaking that I understand will help us get at any annual fees or maintenance costs, or other associated costs that

IT-providers might require, associated with this program.  So I will just leave that question for the -- this area of questioning in hopes of a complete answer with respect to that undertaking.  

     In the previous case, the utility had estimated that the costs for the risk-management program would be something between $100,000 and $1 million.  I can turn you to the evidence, but I think that is established in the record.  

     MR. RUBINO:  For the computer program?  

     MR. ADAMS:  For the computer program, alone --

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, just, specifically, the IT. 

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes.  

     MR. ADAMS:  The current 900,000 -- 930,000 appears to be close to the upper limit.  Just for purposes of completion, do I take it that the $930,000 estimate includes contingency, or is there contingency separate from that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, it does include congestion.     

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  So that 930,000 is a complete capital budget -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That’s our complete estimate, allowing for some unexpected. -- obviously, contingency allows for a certain amount of risk.  IT systems being what they are, there's, obviously, a chance you can exceed your contingency.  But, for today, we're comfortable with that number.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  And do you have an estimate of the spending or commitments to date? 

     MR. RUBINO:  There are approximately 200,000 as of this Monday --

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.

     MR. RUBINO:  -- August 15th.  Mid-month.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So you're something like 20 percent, or a little bit less -- or a little bit more -- 25 of the way through the program.  

     What's the depreciation rate that will be applied to this program?  How soon are we going to have to replace this? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I think you asked two different questions there.  One question is the depreciation rate, and that -- I’m not sure whether it will be four or five years, but that would be reflected in our response to the Undertaking J5.2, where we show the amortization schedule for that.  

     In terms of the useful life of the application, again, that's difficult to anticipate.  Obviously, we expect it to have a life that is at least equal to the amortization period.  You always hope that it will have a life that extends beyond there, but given the ongoing evolution of technology, it's impossible to predict what the -- how far the life may extend.  

     MR. ADAMS:  The next area I want to canvass with you is costs of the risk-management program.  But given the amortization -- I guess we’ll learn when your undertaking comes out.  But the capital costs that would flow into rates, and the annual impact for the IT program, would that be something in the order of a quarter million dollars a year?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, depending -- at the 25 percent depreciation rate, that would be about right.   And I guess -- I'm not sure.  Right now, I can't recall whether it is a four- or five-year amortization, so 20 or 25 percent would be my expectation, right now.  

     MR. ADAMS:  In an interrogatory that was presented in the RP-2003-0203 case, the range of annual costs, on an allocated basis, for fiscal 2001 through fiscal 2003, were identified by the utility as being in the range of $160,000 to $170,000.  

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.  It was Board Staff Interrogatory No. 19.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  So -- now, that period -- let me just address that period of time.  There was, in that period, 2001 through 2003, somewhat lower claims by the utility with respect to corporate cost-allocations.  Have the corporate cost-allocations associated with the risk-management function changed?   In the test year under your proposal, would they be different, significantly, than those that were applicable in the 2001 through 2003 period? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, I don't know.  

     MR. ADAMS: I -- the EI financial group supports the risk-management activity. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, they do.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So I -- 

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes, treasury.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Treasury.  And treasury. 

     MR. RUBINO:  No, just treasury.   

     MR. ADAMS:  The treasury group. 

     MR. RUBINO:  Let me correct:  No, it’s not finance.  It's treasury.  EI treasury.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Where would we find the costs in the corporate cost-allocations associated with that treasury function? 

     MR. RUBINO:  You would find it in the column in that IR under the EGS column.  The treasury costs are allocated to EGS.  And then EGS has, in turn -- we’ve carved it out as part of the risk-management portion.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  In terms of this -- in terms of this filing, I'm not sure where it would be reflected.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. CHARLESON:  We can undertake to identify that.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, thank you.  

     I’d like an undertaking on that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J5.4.  

     And it the corporate cost allocation regarding risk management.  

     MR. ADAMS:  For the test year.  And if it’s possible, also, the comparable figures from the previous period.  The last time the record was clear on this was in the previous case.  I'm looking for an update.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  We will undertake to do that as part of that undertaking.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4:  TO IDENTIFY AND PROVIDE THE CORPORATE COST-ALLOCATION REGARDING RISK MANAGEMENT FOR THE TEST YEAR, TOGETHER WITH THE COMPARABLE FIGURES FROM THE PREVIOUS PERIOD, SO AS TO UPDATE THE INFORMATION  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, of course, from time to time, there are certain consulting studies that are undertaken.  And for 2006, the utility has identified, in its evidence, potential future activities related to risk management.  I think this morning, Mr. Charleson, if I remember correctly, you didn't have an estimate for any costs that might be associated with that for 2006.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  And what I indicated this morning is that, if there were incremental costs associated with undertaking those activities, those would have to be borne by the shareholder in 2006, that, you know, we wouldn't be looking to update what we filed for our O&M costs. 

     MR. ADAMS:  There’s no specific budget for those things, at this time? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  We expect to be able to do those activities, primarily, utilizing existing resources.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, if we have the financial impacts arising from the IT program and the corporate cost-allocation changes, and we have the pattern of administrative costs from fiscal 2001 through 2003, is that going to give us enough information to have a reasonable rule of thumb?  Again, I'm not seeking a high level of accuracy, just some reasonable understanding of the overall costs of operating this risk management-program in 2006.  

 
MR. RUBINO:  The additional costs that you would have to add would be the transaction costs when an actual hedge is executed.  There is a very small cost, but a cost nonetheless, per gJ of natural gas purchased.  It's specifically a penny a gJ.  There was an undertaking last year that we ‑‑ where we provided that information.


MR. ADAMS:  Would there be any significant change relative to the costs that we saw over that 2001‑2003 period?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't expect that there would be a significant change.


MR. RUBINO:  No.


MR. ADAMS:  Where I'm trying to get at here is to establish a record so that we've got some clarity on, you know, what the overall costs are.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I understand that, and that is why we raised these transaction costs, as well, so you would have a complete picture.


MR. ADAMS:  Is there anything I'm missing here?


MR. RUBINO:  No.  The items you have identified - and I have added two - are all of the items.


MR. ADAMS:  Not including regulatory time?


MR. CHARLESON:  I was going to joke about that, but I restrained myself.


MR. ADAMS:  Well, for purposes of completeness, there are regulatory costs associated with this, but those are not allocated specifically to risk management?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, they're not.


MR. ADAMS:  They're borne by all customers in the budgets for those things?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  So with the exception of the regulatory time, all the other costs are specifically recovered from system gas customers?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  There's an interrogatory from IGUA on that point?


MR. RUBINO:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  But there is no additions to make to that interrogatory response?


MR. RUBINO:  Correct, there is not.


MR. ADAMS:  All right.  Thank you.  Okay.  Now I would like to turn to the surveys, and we have extracted from the surveys at pages 9 and ‑‑ at 9 through 12 of our little package the pieces of the surveys that I want to address with you.


Have you got those?  And did the members of the panel ‑‑ can you just help us understand your role in preparation of the survey questions?


MR. RUBINO:  Sure.  Once we received approval from the Board to undertake the survey, we went back and spoke to ‑‑ I spoke to people in the research and business intelligence department within opportunity development within the company.  They're the people who have ongoing relations with companies that would do surveys on behalf of the company.  So I spoke to them; indicated to them what our needs were.  


They then indicated that they would speak to Ipsos- Reid, and we then had meetings between Ipsos-Reid, the research and business intelligence department, and myself and Mr. Charleson.


We reiterated the needs of ‑‑ the requirements for the survey as they flowed from the Risk Advisory recommendations, and then some two-and-a-half to three weeks later met with them to see their first cut at the questions that they were going to ask on our behalf.


In the meantime, I also spoke to Risk Advisory.  As one of the things we were wanting to do was to get a sense for our customers' preferences amongst the various hedge instruments, and it was going to be a bit difficult, in terms of trying to put information around hedge information into language that someone would be receptive to at the dinner hour in the middle of the survey.  


So we worked on that, and those questions were then also incorporated, and then myself and Mr. Charleson approved the final list of questions that were to be asked.


MR. ADAMS:  Did you provide Ipsos-Reid with a copy of the Compass survey?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, they had a copy.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, the questions I'm interested in looking at are the questions related to customer preference with respect to fixed versus floating.  And if you look at question number 11, which is found on page 10 of our package, it's on the top right-hand corner, to help you follow along.


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  The question is presented as follows:

"Do you think the company should purchase the natural gas commodity at a fixed price with stable pricing but not necessarily the lowest price, or do you think they should purchase the natural gas commodity at a floating rate, which can lead to a lower price but also runs the risk of having to pay higher prices?"


I take it you reviewed that question before it was presented in the actual live survey?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, we did.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Now, if we look to the Compass survey, which is page 12 of our little package, there is a preamble for the question that was eventually asked with respect to customer preference.  And the preamble question -- the preamble presentation concludes with the following sentence:  

"In managing this uncertainty, Consumers Gas can either buy natural gas at fixed prices which does not guarantee the lowest price, or at a floating price, which can lead to the lower price but also runs the risk of having to pay higher prices from time to time."


Do you see that?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, I do.


MR. ADAMS:  The question that was asked in the 2004 survey is nearly word for word the preamble statement from the 1994 ‑‑ or 1995 survey.  Was it a direct quote?


MR. RUBINO:  They're reasonably similar.  I didn't ‑‑ we weren't involved in the actual crafting of the question, so I don't know if they exactly copied it verbatim, but ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  It looks like it is virtually a direct quote that was used.


MR. ADAMS:  Would you agree with me that the question that was asked in the 2004 survey is ‑‑ does not clearly express to the customer any information indicating that providing the fixed price service reflects additional operating costs relative to those that would prevail with simply a floating price service? 


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that this specific question does not do that. 


MR. ADAMS:  Is there someplace else in the survey that you asked that specific question?


MR. RUBINO:  Just a moment.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I think what we would be pointing to ‑‑ I'm just trying to get the specific questions --


MR. RUBINO:  I can find that for you.


MR. CHARLESON:  ‑‑ but where we talked about -- where we tried to use the analogy of insurance to help with the understanding, it's our belief that that provided the customers with a sense that there may be some costs associated with doing these types of transactions, because anybody that pays insurance is aware that that's not free.  


I don't want to go further than that, given my concerns about trying to draw a tight analogy between insurance and risk management.


But having used that terminology, I think there were those aspects of the survey that would give customers a sense that this is something that isn't necessarily free.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  One reason, I suggest to you, to take surveys is to identify changes in customer opinions over time.  When would we look at the 1995 survey, you asked a very clear question:  

"How important is it to you to pay the lowest price as opposed to having the higher but stable price?"


That was the question that was asked in the 1995 survey, but when you came to the 2004 survey, you didn't ask that clear question.  My question is:  Were you not interested in looking at the changing customer views over time, with respect to that question? 

     MR. RUBINO:  What we -- we asked a reasonably similar question.  And it's question 13 on page 29 of the attachment -- or page 29 of the survey.  

Question 13 asks:

“What is more important to you: maintaining a steady price for the natural gas commodity, which may or may not be higher than the market rate?  Or trying to find the lowest price for natural gas commodity, even if it means the price will fluctuate more frequently, and could result in higher prices?”

     So I would suggest that we have asked a reasonably similar question to the one you're suggesting was asked in the '95 survey.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  And I think, in addition to that, when we were designing this survey, we were looking at the specific purpose that we were trying to achieve for that -- this survey.  And the principal focus was to try to get a sense from customers, in terms of the degree of volatility that they were willing to experience or bear.  

     So, again, we targeted the questions to focus in from that perspective.  There were, obviously, questions that you want to ask to help the customers get their -- get a frame of reference, in terms of what's being talked about.  But in terms of trying to do a direct comparison of a survey that was done ten years ago, and try to establish historical trends, that wasn't one of our objectives.  

     MR. ADAMS:  In the -- the results of this survey in 1995, in response to the clear question "do you want the lowest price, as opposed to a higher, but stable, price" -- the response to that question, on a scale of 1 through 7, was that 73 percent - and I'm reading from the conclusions of the Compass study, page 12 - on a scale of 1 through 7, 73 percent of the residential, and 70 percent of the industrial, commercial and apartment customers, responded believing paying the lowest price is important.  

     Of these, 35 percent, in each group, gave a score of 7, the highest score -- highest point.  Among residential

-- the residential sample, 11 percent are neutral, and 15 percent say it’s not important compared to a higher, but stable, price.  

     I suggest to you that the only evidence that we have on the record before the Board as to customer views - specifically, on whether they want lowest price, as opposed to a higher, but stable - is the answer to that question that was asked in 1995.  

     Do you object to that observation? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I think, again, looking back to the question from this survey that Mr. Rubino pointed to earlier, on page 29 of the evidence, it does provide, in my opinion, an updated view of that.  While it's not an identical question, it gets to the same principles, the same concepts.  And so, as a result, I would say that this is something that does provide an updated perspective on that, and is more current and more relevant than a ten-year-old survey, when we were operating in a much different market environment.  

     MR. RUBINO:  The headline on that page 29 of the attachment, indicates:

“‘It is more important to maintain a steady price than to obtain the lowest price’, more than 6 in 10 -- 60 percent small commercial customers, somewhat more than residential, 55%.”

     MR. ADAMS:  I see the headline, but that’s not -- the headline was not presented to the customer -- to the --

     MR. RUBINO:  No.

     MR. ADAMS:  -- participants in the survey. 

     MR. RUBINO:  The question was -- in very small type at the bottom --  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  And that question --nowhere does it indicate that the steady price is higher.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  You're right.  

     MR. ADAMS:  The conclusion in the 1995 study, in the paragraph on page 12, is as follows:   

“Hence, there is clear support by well over half the respondents in all segments for the concept of taking on the risk of higher prices by managing purchasing gas at floating prices in order to gain the opportunity to achieve lower prices.”  

     And that, really -- at the time, that was the objective of the program; would you agree, Mr. Rubino?

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.  It was, at that time.  

     MR. ADAMS:  The conclusion -- the final statement is: 

“This is more important than average among residential respondents with lower incomes and women.”

     Then it goes on to say:

“There are not significant differences between groups of the ICA sample.” 

     Just, specifically, with regard to this last conclusion, where the previous study identified low income groups and women -- the views of low-income individuals and women, separately, do I understand correctly that was not done in the Ipsos-Reid study? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  There was some segmentation done within the study.  However, the observations that we received, in terms of the reporting that was done for us by Ipsos-Reid, and the compilation of the report, didn't get into that degree of segmentation because, again, given that we were looking at something for a total customer base, we had responses that we believed, and that our research group indicated to us, were representative of the entire customer base.  You know, it's our belief that we're trying to put in place a program, and put in place measures, that meet the needs of all customers, not targeted groups.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So is it fair to say that the only information we have in front of the Board, with respect to the views of low-income individuals, with respect to their desire for paying a premium to achieve price stability, is that they are among the least favourable to this, and that is lower than the 73 percent average amongst residential customers who are not in favour of paying the premium --  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’m not -- 

     MR. ADAMS:  -- is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, I don't know if that is fair, because I don't follow what evidence you're pointing to, to reach that conclusion. 

     MR. ADAMS:  From the 1995 study -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That’s -- 

     MR. ADAMS:  -- the section I just read to you.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say that’s the only information available within the record in this proceeding, but again, recognizing it's a ten-year-old study, and reiterating that our focus is on all customer groups, and not specific segments.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Now, with respect to direct-purchase customers surveyed, I looked in the methodology discussion, and did not find the survey attempted to confirm that the respondent to the survey matched the signature on the applicable marketer contract; is that a fair reading? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say that is a fair reading.  And it may be difficult to assess, given that a large number of customers still don't realize they're on direct purchase -- 

     MR. ADAMS:  Right. 

     MR. CHARLESON: -- so they may not know who signed the contract.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  It's -- apparently, 58 percent of your customers aren't sure whether -- 58 percent of the customers that are on direct purchase don't know that they're on direct purchase, according to the survey results? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That sounds about the right number.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Subject to check. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  And that's something that we have seen through, I think, through a few surveys we’ve done over the last couple of years.  That number has been consistently around 60 percent.  

     MR. ADAMS:  On the issue of including direct-purchase customers in the survey, I note that, in the Natural Gas Forum, EGD expressed the view that it ought to be permitted to maintain a critical mass of system-gas customers. Was that desire by your company one of the reasons why direct purchase-customers were included in the sample? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, that didn't play a factor in our sampling, at all.  

     MR. ADAMS:  The page that Mr. Rubino just turned us to, from the Ipsos-Reid study, page 29 --

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes?

     MR. ADAMS:  Specifically, with regard to ‑‑


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  The system gas actual results, where 51 percent of the customers are in favour of steady versus 47 lowest and 2 percent don't know, is the result there statistically significant?  Can we statistically determine that system gas actuals are in favour of steady, or not?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.  The answer is yes.  I made a point of asking our business and intelligence group ‑‑ sorry, research and business intelligence group, and then, in turn, them asking the Ipsos-Reid people, and they indicated that it was.


MR. ADAMS:  That is statistically significant?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  I understood that the errors bounds in the study were 3 percent.


MR. RUBINO:  Three-and-a-half.


MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps there is some confusion between statistically significant and statistically valid.  So it is statistically valid sample, statistically valid sample size.  In terms of significant, you're correct, there is a margin of error in the survey, I believe, of plus or minus 3 percent.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.


MR. CHARLESON:  So, again, to say that the majority of customers are ‑‑ of system gas actual customers are in favour of steady versus ‑‑ as compared to lowest, there is the potential that given the margin of error, that it overlaps.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, thank you.  Just before I leave this area, one last question.  I observed at several points indications of significant customer confusion, like, for example, a relatively small number of direct purchase customers knowing that they're on direct purchase.


In light of this indication that customers really don't have a deep understanding of how the gas markets are serving them, do you have any concerns about the reasonableness of asking customers about the relative preference for caps versus collars versus swaps?  Caps and collars might sound like a clothing choice to most customers.


MR. CHARLESON:  I think definitely we had concerns with how you go about asking customers about, you know, caps, collars, swaps, because it's -- again, even until I got responsibility in these areas, I would have been confused by that.  But that was one of the key elements in designing the survey, was having the discussions with Ipsos-Reid and with risk advisory to try to craft questions in a manner that would put those instruments into terms that the average consumer would be able to relate to and to understand.


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.  And we spent ‑‑ I spent a considerable amount of time.  It's question 14 in the survey, and it's repeated in response to CME Interrogatory Number 17 in this proceeding.


MR. ADAMS:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. RUBINO:  I would suggest if you read through those, it doesn't really matter what they're called, swaps, caps or collars.  It was the concept we were trying to get across, and, again, realizing it was a telephone survey in the evening, but we ‑‑ we believe that we succeeded in accurately describing conceptually what each of those three hedge instruments attempts to achieve.


MR. ADAMS:  When we looked at the results that arose from asking their preferences with regard to the caps, collars or swaps, my reading of it is that the opinion appears to be fairly evenly split there.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That was our view, as well.


MR. RUBINO:  It was our view, as well.


MR. ADAMS:  So one possible explanation for this is simply that the customers are throwing darts at the answer and politely responding with, you know, something that they thought might entertain the survey questioner.


MR. CHARLESON:  Or the possible other outcome is that they understood the question and they responded based on what their preference was.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  So the same people that didn't know whether they were on system gas or direct purchase were providing a deeper understanding of financial hedging instruments; is your suggestion?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, because, again, I think ‑‑ I don't want to get argumentative, but I think the -- for people to understand whether they're on system gas or direct purchase requires them to, one, either recall having entered into a contract, being -- paid particular attention to their bill to understand who their supply is based on what is indicated on their bill.  


To have -- so that's not something top of mind, though.  When I open my bill, I don't look to the middle to make sure that I am still getting the system gas rate or that I am still on system supply. 


But hearing the question, it is put in terms that are, you know, very general and very generic in nature and very common terminology; doesn't require your having to recall, What did I see on my bill, or what did I ‑‑ or what did I sign up for at the door or online.  


So I think there is a great difference, in terms of the ability or the ‑‑ for customers to respond appropriately to the questions.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I want to turn to the question of hedgible volumes, and the interrogatories I'm going to refer to are CME 14 and page 3 of VECC IR 28, part F, if you would.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that part of your package, Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Unfortunately not.  This is where I ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Just give us a moment.


MR. ADAMS:  -- was incomplete.


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, the second one for VECC was 14?


MR. ADAMS:  VECC 28, CME 14.


MR. CHARLESON:  Okay.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, I am really perplexed about how you calculate hedgible volumes, and I just want to get this cleared up.


If we ‑‑ if we look to CME 14, you have a calculation that you present there.  It's lowest number degree days in the last ten years, multiplied by current use per degree day, multiplied by current number of customers, multiplied by the lower of ‑‑ the lowest level of participation in system gas in the last ten years or the company's view of system gas participation in the forecast period.


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So that multiplies out to some very large number.


MR. RUBINO:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Probably in the millions?


MR. RUBINO:  This past year it was approximately 120 Bcf.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, the one piece of it that I need some help with, how does ‑‑ how many customers are going to be on system gas next year?


MR. RUBINO:  Well, there will be ‑‑ internally, we'll have an estimate of what that number will be, based on historical information.


MR. CHARLESON:  Right now we look at that being, I'd say, somewhere between, say, 950,000 and just over a million, say, just -- right now, we're seeing it around 60 percent of our customers are on system gas.  


MR. ADAMS:  The fraction of customers on system gas bounces around; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  It moves, but over the past number of years, and I think if you ‑‑ again, I'm trying to -- there's an interrogatory response where we provided ‑‑


MR. ADAMS:  Energy Probe 95?


MR. CHARLESON:  Ninety-five.  So if we look at ‑‑ which is Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 95.  I think if you look back through there, what we've seen is, say, over the last seven years, other than, say, 2001 and 2002 when we saw the initial -- say, the price spike coming out of the winter, say, December 2000, the percentage of customers on system gas or the distribution between system gas and direct purchase has remained fairly stable.  


So it's almost like we view those two years as an exception, and then it settled back into a relatively steady pattern and we're seeing that pattern continue.


So it will fluctuate, but I think it fluctuates within ‑‑ at this point, at least, within a relatively narrow band, recognizing that you may have a couple of years where there will be exceptions.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  So over the period of years shown here, which is eight years, of those years, five of them -- I'm sorry, six of those eight, it's around -- between 36 percent and 40 percent.  But then, two of those years, it's over 45; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And so you're saying that you're certain that next year, 2006, it will be at the -- around the figures that it's been in six of these eight years.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I can't say I'm certain.  It -- nothing is certain.  Given the price run-ups that we have seen over the past couple of months, we may see a similar response from customers to the direct-purchase markets that we saw back in 2000, 2001.  You know, that remains to be seen.  

     But if we look at the formula, again, that's used within -- that's identified in the CME response, it would be the lowest level of participation in system gas in the last ten years.  Or, our view on system -- so if our view on participation in system-gas was that it was going to stay where if is today, around 60 percent, the number that we would end up using would be the 52 percent -- 

     MR. RUBINO:  It's the lower of -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- the lower of.  So the 2002 number, where we had 52.6 percent on system gas, that would be the lower number that gets used.  

     MR. RUBINO:  It's intentionally conservative.  The purpose of this calculation is to ensure that the company is not over-hedged.  We have no interest in hedging more volumes than are required.  And that's the reason it’s so conservative --  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So -- 

     MR. RUBINO:  -- including the lowest number of

degree-days in the last ten years. 

     MR. ADAMS:  When you're calculating the volumes eligible to be hedged, the formula that tells you how many -- what the volumes are, available to be hedged, makes no reference to the volume currently hedged; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Correct.  That's correct.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Other than, if you were, you know -- as you use this formula, going forward, there's obviously going to be a relationship between what you're currently hedged -- the volumes that are available to currently hedge and what you're able to do in the future, because they're all based on the same formula, going forward.  

     MR. ADAMS: I -- that's not obvious to me.  The formula is the formula.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. ADAMS:  It makes no reference to the volume currently hedged.  If you had, you know, 100 million hedged, and the formula generates a figure of 120 million eligible to be hedged, are you going to add to that hedging quantity the next year? 

     MR. RUBINO:  No.  The --

     MR. ADAMS:  Where is that explained in your -- in -- 

     MR. RUBINO:  Well, this calculation is completed at the beginning of any given fiscal year.  And that's the amount of volume that will be hedged over the next 12 months.  It's what is available for hedging.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  So I would agree with your comment that there isn't necessarily a direct link between what is available for hedging and what actually gets hedged.  But, in terms of what's available for hedging, you would expect there to be a relatively close relationship from one year to the next, given that a number of these factors look back at numbers over the last ten years.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  

     Now, if we flip forward to VECC 28, at page 3, the company has asked a similar question in part F:

“Please explain the extent to which the company will be in a hedgible position, if the $75 tolerance level is accepted.  In effect, please indicate the volume level that is currently hedged and, if the higher tolerance level is accepted, how much that level of hedged volumes would change.”

     That was the question.  

     And -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’m just -- sorry to interrupt, but just to be clear.  I think, at the beginning, when you were reading the first line of that, you just indicated the extent in which the company will be in a “hedgible position”, where it was actually a “lower hedgible position.” 

     MR. ADAMS:  A “lower hedgible position.”  I --

     MR. CHARLESON:  Just for the record to be clear.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I’m sorry.  

     Now, we look to the reply.  The last sentence of that reply indicates:

“The company cannot, however, predict future price volatility, and, hence, cannot predict the associated volumes that may be hedged.”

       Right?  Do you see that? 

     MR. RUBINO:  It reads that -- you read it correctly.  

     MR. ADAMS:  What -- my question is, what relationship does future price volatility have with respect to the formula that tells us the associated volumes that may be hedged? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Well  --

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, in looking at that -- given that -- with the higher tolerance band and the potential of being in a hedgible position less often, that could lower the extent to which -- that you're -- the amount of -- how frequently you will be in a hedgible position, which can lead to you hedging less often.  If you were to go through the whole year and you never exceed that band -- say, the band always -- say, $60 is the maximum that you ever see, well, you won't have hedged any volumes.  With a $35 band, you would have exceeded that band, and so you would have hedged more volumes.  

     So there is the potential that, given the frequency that you may be in a hedgible position, it could have an impact on the total volumes hedged.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm going to have to read the transcript to figure that out.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I hope I was clear enough for you.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm going to turn to my last area of questions.    

     Okay.  Now, Mr. Charleson, when you were discussing with the previous questioners your company's position with respect to transactional services, you drew attention to the necessity, in your view, of incentives for management.  And I want you to turn you to a couple of transcript references.  On page 88, volume 2, you said: 

“I think as you look at the -- say, the risks and the uncertainties regarding the level of revenue, the level of gross margin, you want to ensure that there's still an appropriate incentive to attract management attention.” 

     Later on in the transcript, you made a similar comment to Mr. De Vellis.  And if the revenue -- sorry, this is Mr. De Vellis speaking:

         “And if the revenues -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps, you could point us to the specific reference. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Page 92 - sorry - line 16 and following.  Mr. De Vellis asked:

“And if the revenue -- sorry, the percentage of TS revenue that go to the company was, say, 10 percent rather than 50 percent, would these employees do their job any differently?”

     Your response:

“Those employees -- I wouldn't expect them to do their job any differently.  Again -- because, again, their focus is taking the assets that have been made available to them and trying to optimize the value that they're able to get.  The concern that we have is, is the more management attention, management focus, also the manner in which we may look to manage other assets.  So there’s other parts of our -- of the way we manage our supply portfolio, the way we manage our -- the overall operation of our system, that may create opportunities for transactional services for these people to go and optimize.  And that is more where our concern lies, from a sharing-mechanism perspective, and the management attention is:  is there an incentive that these people, that aren't directly involved in the TS function, have, to try to ensure that there is an appropriate -- that there is that focus to try to provide the opportunities that make assets available for that person to then go and to optimize it. "


Now on the subject of TS, you testified that much richer incentives than those previously approved by the Board as applicable to TS are required to "get management's attention."


The utility has taken a similar view with respect to DSM, wherein its filing in this case, the proposed formula for SSM would yield a much higher ratio of return to the utility.


My question is this:  With respect to risk management, your evidence is that there is a high level of top senior management spending a lot of time making sure that risk management is optimized, but it is all pro bono work, flow-through.


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess there's a few aspects and a few characterizations that you have made in your statements there that I want to just try to address first.  


First off, I can't speak to DSM and what is being requested there.  I'm not the -- definitely not the expert in that area and not a witness on that evidence.


In terms of our transactional services, the request for the change to the sharing mechanism isn't necessarily a request for a much richer ‑‑ I forget the exact, precise words you used, but we're looking for what we believe is a fair sharing, given some of the uncertainties, and it may still result in us receiving a lower incentive than what we've had in the past, depending on what happens with transactional services revenues.


In terms of a significant amount of management attention, a significant amount of time, I think, as we've indicated, we hold risk management ‑‑ I agree there is attention from the senior levels within the organization towards risk management.  We talk about one meeting a month.  Those meetings are typically an hour or less in duration.  


So, yes, the attention is there.  Whether it's a significant amount of time, given the amount of time that our senior management would put in over the course of a month, I'm not sure that I would classify one hour even of ‑‑ assess another hour's preparation or discussion around risk management as being significant in the grand scheme.  


You also indicated that, I think in your ‑‑ when you talked about significant time in terms of kind of the optimizing on the risk management.  Again, that is not the objective of the program.  The objective of the program is to mitigate volatility.


So I'm not sure if I have addressed your comments or if there is a specific question beyond that that you would like me to answer.


MR. ADAMS:  What is the incentive driving senior management's attention to risk management?


MR. CHARLESON:  Risk management is something that we see as being ‑‑ as related to more of a core activity of system supply.  We have, as we've indicated, potentially around a million customers that rely on us for supplying their gas.


Those customers and -- well, all customers have indicated that they believe it is appropriate and that they would like to see the utility taking actions to mitigate that volatility.  And, as a result, we have a risk- management program.  That risk-management program, which has been approved by the Board, is in place to try to execute those customer wishes and what we see as being part of our core supply function.


And, also, given the dollars associated, the value of the transactions that come into play, you know, when we're looking this year, we have the potential ‑‑ heading towards this winter, there's the potential we could be looking at the value of the premiums that we pay alone in our caps being in the order of $40 million.  


So there's significant costs that may be incurred in putting these transactions in place.  Obviously, you don't know what the end result -- you know, you may have paid $40 million and it may end up having reduced costs by 42 or $45 million.  You don't know what the outcome of those transactions are going to be, but given that there is that outlay or those costs that are incurred, it's something that is viewed as core and something that requires that attention.


MR. ADAMS:  If any intervenors came forward and said that the utility ought to be accountable for ensuring lower gas costs by virtue of your risk-management program, you would resist that; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  We would be very concerned with that, because I think as Risk Advisory indicated last year, for anybody to expect to beat the market on an ongoing basis is either very lucky or fooling themselves.


MR. RUBINO:  "Unreasonable" was the word they used.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I paraphrased.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, I will just close off with a couple of clean‑up questions.  In your evidence in‑chief and your response to Mr. Warren, you commented that risk management had a different impact on the customer than equalization, bill equalization.  Do you remember that discussion?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you explain to me what the difference is, again?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, when we look at risk management ‑‑ risk management is meant to mitigate the volatility in the prices that a customer will experience.  But, ultimately, they're going to pay ‑‑ so it's mitigating the total price that they will pay for their commodity costs.  


So, again, if we look at experience over the past few years, in total, you might have seen in one year a $20 million lower total commodity cost to system gas customers because of risk-management activities.  So over a 12-month period, system gas customers will have paid $20 million less.


MR. ADAMS:  What year was that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again ‑‑


MR. ADAMS:  Energy Probe 93.


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess I should be more careful in terms of just putting examples out there.  Again, within Energy Probe 93, it shows that between 2004 and 2005 that the costs have actually been slightly higher.


MR. ADAMS:  By 4- and 12 dollars.


MR. CHARLESON:  By 4- and 12 dollars.  But if we were to look back in the last proceeding, we also showed, in 2003, where the ‑‑ this was in CME Interrogatory No. 20, that the gain or the savings resulting from risk management was $23 million.  So, again, just ‑‑ it can go one way or the other, but -- so for the use of my example, I chose a year where there was a savings resulting from the risk management.


So over the course of the years, system gas customers will have paid $23 million less than if there was no risk management program.  If there was no risk management program and customers, instead, relied on equal billing to manage the volatility or to mitigate volatility, over the course of the year, it's true month over month what they pay will be smooth and there won't be dramatic fluctuations in there.  


But at the end of the year, over the 12-month period, if all customers -- if all system gas customers were on equal billing, they still would have paid the $23 million more.  So it hasn't ‑‑ or in the case of a year where there was -- you know, where risk management ended up costing more, they would have paid less.  


So it has the effect of smoothing the timing of when they made those payments, but it doesn't remove, say, the impact of volatile gas prices on the total commodity costs they're going to pay over an annual basis.


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Charleson, that's looking at an annual basis.  What about a customer over the long term, customers who buy gas on the long term?  You have a house; you buy gas for 20, 30 years for the thing.


MR. CHARLESON:  True.


MR. ADAMS:  They're not expecting this risk management program to yield any benefits for that customer over a long-term period.


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Whether they're on equal billing or not.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So there is really no difference except the additional overheads.  If you look at it on a long-term basis, the impact of your risk-management program is simply to increase the overhead costs borne by those system gas customers; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  And if we look at the survey results it seems that it is something that customers have asked us -- or look for us to do.  But, again, I can't disagree with the statement that you've made.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  The purpose of this -- let me just go back to the purpose of this expensive IT program you're putting in place, here.  The IT program that it's replacing was something that was produced in-house, I assume -- 

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  -- by your own engineers -- your own staff? 

     MR. RUBINO:  Our own staff.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now you're going to out -- to pay almost a million bucks for this new system.  The benefits in the new system are primarily to protect the utility; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say it is to protect the utility ratepayer, because it helps us to administer the risk-management program, and ensure that we're executing the risk-management program in a manner that is consistent with what they desired, and in the manner that the Board has approved.  

     MR. ADAMS:  If risk management -- if you guys had a rogue trader, or somebody that mismanaged this thing, and you came up with a big hit, there's a risk that the utility could get hit; right?  We saw that with Central Gas Manitoba.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there is that risk.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And so that risk needs to be managed prudently and carefully. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And perhaps that's why it receives the high level of management attention.   

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  

     Those are my questions.   

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  

     Mr. Dingwall, Miss DeMarco, can you give me a sense of how long your examination will take?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Madame, roughly half an hour, subject to negotiations with Ms. DeMarco, off the record, over the break. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I can guarantee that, come hick or come stick, we will be done by 4 o'clock today.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Even if we take a 15-minute break now? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Absolutely, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's take a 15-minute break, and we’ll get back together at ten before the hour.  

--- Recess taken at 2:35 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:50 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Dingwall, were you going to proceed next.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, you're looking expectant.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  I promised an update.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  And the most current information is that, in respect of the policy panel, the estimate of eight hours was based upon the information provided from Mr. Thompson, and it was a day and a half and we translated or converted that into eight hours, approximately.  


In addition to that, Mr. Cass has informed us that he believes he will be about 45 minutes for his examination in‑chief.  That would, therefore, take us to approximately into the afternoon of the Tuesday, which means it would be the afternoon on the Tuesday when we could possibly start the rate-300 panel.


As I believe everyone is aware, the Board is not sitting on the Wednesday morning, which means that if we couldn't complete rate 300 on the Tuesday afternoon, then there would be the Wednesday afternoon.  


At present, there are some ‑‑ there is some additional information as to the rate 300.  We have an estimate from Miss DeMarco of one to two hours in respect of rate 300.  We will obviously hear from other intervenors shortly, but that's where things stand, and that's the best update we can provide at this point.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Dingwall?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, before Mr. Dingwall starts, can I raise a preliminary matter?  I listened on the web today.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I heard the comments of the Board with respect to getting a schedule, and we in fact appreciate the concerns of the Board in trying to get a more precise schedule.  And we had not given estimates and we now have given estimates to EGD.  However, I wanted to go on the record and express my concerns that estimates given at this point are very unreliable, and the reason for ‑‑ there is a number of reasons for that, but one of the big ones is that we don't know what we're going to get in the policy panel.  


The policy panel may take hours and hours, days maybe, off the various O&M panels, or, conversely, it may make them a lot longer.  So it is very difficult for us to estimate at this point.  That's one of a number of concerns of that type.  


And so while we've given estimates to the best of our ability, we don't feel that they're very reliable at all and we wanted to express that concern.


MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Mr. Shepherd.  I believe that we have to start with some schedule with the recognition that it may, and most probably will, change as we go along.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Any other comments before we go ahead with Mr. Dingwall?  Mr. Dingwall.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 2; RESUMED

Fred Rubino; Previously sworn.

David Charleson; Previously sworn.

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam.  I'm going to move one seat over so I am not hiding behind Mr. O'Leary.


By way of preface, I'm presuming that the survey was performed with some degree of cooperation or involvement from another department, customer service or strategic business services, as it might be known.  


Some of my questions might cross the boundary of what this panel might be aware of or able to answer versus what information might best be gained from another panel, and I'm opening the door to the witnesses to refer me to other panels if there are some details that might be best gained from them.


MR. CHARLESON:  That's fine.


MR. RUBINO:  Although the other department is referred to as the research and business intelligence department.  It wasn't a customer service department.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I frankly haven't been able to keep track of the names of the departments over the last five years, let alone the last six months.


If you look at the relative price of natural gas between now and the time of the Compass survey, it would appear that it's gone up a fair bit.  Would you agree with that?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, I would.


MR. DINGWALL:  And would you agree that the factor by which the current price of gas is higher than the price of gas was in approximately 1996 is probably four times?


MR. RUBINO:  Approximately.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  It would appear that a $35 volatility threshold in 1996, with gas prices being four times higher at this point in time, might lead to a presumption that a volatility threshold could be somewhere in the range of four times $35.  What would your reaction to that be?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I think we have to rely on the results of the survey.  We don't know what customers were thinking or what their feelings were at the time when the original survey was conducted and in comparison to when this survey is being conducted.  And I think when customers think in terms of, say, the volatility -- or impact on their wallets of the volatility, it's not necessarily with a direct correlation to the changes in commodity pricing.  


I think there would be a recognition there has been an increase in -- you know, they've seen increases in their gas bills related to commodity price changes, but whether they're thinking of it in terms of a pure relation or pure multiplicative factor that's consistent with the increase in the price of gas, I don't see customers doing that.


I see them viewing it in terms of, Well, how much do I think my wallet can bear at this point in time?


MR. DINGWALL:  As preparation for this case and in advance of the ‑‑ of seeing the survey results, did you look at any internal calculations as to what the cost of hedging might be for each of the four proposed volatility thresholds that were in the survey?


MR. RUBINO:  No, we did not.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree with me that a $25 volatility threshold at this point in time would be an extremely expensive one to hedge for?


MR. RUBINO:  It would be a very low threshold and could be ‑‑ could lead to higher premium costs.  That's not to say that mark to market it would yield favourable or unfavourable.  We couldn't pre-judge.


MR. DINGWALL:  It would certainly keep you busy, though, wouldn't it?


MR. RUBINO:  It more than likely would, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, I take it from your responses that regardless of presenting market conditions to customers, your focus seems to be on the presentation of bills to customers and what they mean to customers; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, I'm not clear.


MR. RUBINO:  Sorry, the question -- can you rephrase the question, please?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, in Mr. Charleson's response to my question on whether or not $140 might be a more analogous threshold or relation of threshold to market price, I seem to gather that the company's focus was more on what customers might be concerned with as a volatility threshold.


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, I think that is true.  What we were looking for within the survey is what tolerance, in terms of volatility, was a customer willing to accept.  And looking to set the threshold based on what we saw from the survey results, the majority of customers were comfortable with.


So I don't know whether we did it with a specific view towards the bills.  What we were looking at was with a view towards how much volatility are they willing to bear, how much --you know, how much movement in the ‑‑ in price are they willing to accept?


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, to be clear, is this the volatility that a customer sees on a monthly bill, from one month to the next?


MR. RUBINO:  No.  It's the annual, the -- I should be quite specific.  It is annual and it's on the commodity portion of their bill.  The questions were very specifically designed to let the customer know that.


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe, in a long series of questions and answers with Mr. Adams, you agreed that over a longer period of time there would be no difference between the cost a customer would pay for hedged natural gas versus unhedged natural gas; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  The expectation or the indication that ‑‑ and, again, if we keep pointing back to the testimony of Mr. Simard from the 2005 rate case, is that over the ‑‑ a longer period of time, the expectation would be that the end result would be neutral.


MR. DINGWALL:  Yet we see from ‑ let me try to find that IR - Energy Probe 93, that for the years 2004 and 2005, the difference between the cost of risk-managed system supply and the cost of system supply without risk management is a significantly small percent.  Would you agree with that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree it is quite a small number when you look at the total dollars involved.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is it conceivable that on an annual basis, there isn't going to be that much volatility, with or without risk management? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think we would all like to see the degree of volatility we're experiencing in the market today diminished or eliminated, but that doesn't seem to be the reality of our market.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm looking at the 2004 and 2005 numbers and it doesn't seem like there was significant volatility from a risk-managed perspective to a without-risk-management perspective, for those two years.  

     MR. RUBINO:  The reason for that is because, as mentioned last year, the portion of our volumes that we hedge is, actually, quite small.  We don't ever hedge more than ten percent of the remaining hedgible volumes.  

     And that was one of the things that we asked for, and the Board approved, was to remove that ten percent limitation.  So what you're looking at here are -- is a program that, in Risk Advisory's words, is “significantly handcuffed.”  So, while we are performing risk management, we're not performing as much as we would like.  

     And hence, Mr. Dingwall is right, the difference between the hedge versus unhedged is not significant at this time, and for those years.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  From the perspective of customer reaction, do you get more reaction from customers when they look at their annual supply costs, or when they look at the changes in their quarterly supply costs, when a QRAM happens?  




     MR. CHARLESON:  Given that there is no real mechanism for customers to -- or no easy mechanism for customers to look at, say, the annual impact, I would have to say -- and, again, I'm not from our customer care group, and I think this is where some of your earlier concerns were expressed.  

     But customers see changes in their costs on, say, a quarterly basis, when a QRAM application is filed, and that's more likely to be the trigger for them to call looking for additional information or to enquire.  For them to see -- on an annual basis, they would almost have to accumulate all of their bills and compare the one year to the other.  So I don't think they necessarily -- the -- say, the tools that might create the trigger for them to call, on an annual basis, aren't, kind of, laid out for them.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In the past few years, natural gas price volatility has been something of a political issue, where there have been questions in the House and, certainly, articles in the paper.  Would you agree with me that most of these have occurred in respect of PGVA true-ups? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, maybe you could be more specific, with some examples.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let me see.  I think, if we go back to 2002, there were a number of questions in the House, with the last regime, when there was a significant Union Gas true-up. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Okay, I am aware of that.  And I would agree, yes, that definitely attracted a lot of attention, within both the House and the media. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And whenever there is a significant PGVA true-up with Enbridge, would you agree that that's one of the most significant sources of customer concern? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I can't say whether that would be one of the most significant sources of customer concern, or not.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In terms of what customers see in respect of bills, my reading of the presentation of the equal-billing plan is that customers get 11 relatively-equal monthly bills, and then the 12th bill trues up the difference between that estimate and what the actual price is.  Is that -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I don't think that’s --

     MR. DINGWALL:  -- correct?

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- 100 percent correct.   My understanding of the equal-billing plan - and I'm no expert on it, I'm just a customer that uses it - but I believe the billing -- the way the equal-billing works is that there are ten relatively-equal instalments.  The 11th month is a true-up, and then the 12th month is meant just to be more of an actual billing.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  

     MR. RUBINO:  And that's from September onward.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  Is equal-billing available to all customers? 

     MR. RUBINO:  No.  It's only available to residential customers.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And are there some residential customers who do not have equal-billing made available to them? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Not that I am aware of, but I can't say with certainty.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is that, then, another question to defer to Mr. McGill? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps, or we could undertake to respond to that.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  If you could undertake to provide an indication of the customer groups to whom equal-billing is available to, and whether there are any restrictions on which customers that is available to, and when it is available?  

     MR. RUBINO:  Certainly one restriction is for customers who have a poor credit-rating, but we will let a more comprehensive answer --

     MR. BATTISTA:  So, we’ll give that Undertaking Number J5.5, equal-billing availability and any restrictions thereto. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  AVAILABILITY OF EQUAL-BILLING, AND ANY RESTRICTIONS ON AVAILABILITY

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now what I'm going to try to do for the next five minutes, as Miss DeMarco looks on eagerly, is gain an understanding of what the correlation is between hedging and the managing of the physical system-supply assets.  Can you maybe give me an overview of that?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I would say they are, generally, two distinct operations.  

     Physical supply is acquired in the marketplace, and we will do that for 100 percent of our volumes.  So you will go to the market, you will conduct RFPs, you will do things to acquire the supply that's going to be physically delivered.  

     Hedging is more financial transactions, where you’ll enter -- go to the financial markets to obtain price-protection around the movement in prices.  It's at the end -- or, when the hedge transactions -- or, the hedge agreement comes to its end, there’s then a financial true-up of the difference between your acquisitions in the physical market and the provision of the hedge agreement.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  There's some financial transactions that you act on mid-term though, are there not?  Or end mid-term? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I believe that can be the case, yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And that would be in a situation where your physical portfolio -- or, the difference between your physical and financial portfolios provides an advantage -- or some beneficial situation, should you do that; would that be correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It sounds like you may be more

well-versed in this area than I.  So I would have to -- 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I really hope not. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- take that subject to check.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is there any correlation between the release of physical assets and the management of hedging? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, gentlemen.  

     Given the state of the day and the hour, I'm going to end there and leave Miss DeMarco with the balance of the time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Miss DeMarco?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Panel.   

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Shall I move?  Would that --

     MR. RUBINO:  That might be of assistance.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I apologize for the delay.  Thank you, panel members.  I have questions in two main areas.  The first is the general purpose, intent and, more precisely, the context in which Enbridge Gas Distribution's risk management activities occur, and, secondly, I have some specific questions about the risk management survey.


If I can synthesize what I've understood from today's testimony, the purpose of risk management, would you agree, is to decrease volatility; is that correct?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, it is.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the intent of risk management is not to lower commodity prices; is that correct?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So while risk management may, in any particular year, result in decreased commodity prices, it is equally, if not more likely, that it will result in higher prices; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  I wouldn't agree with your comment that it is more likely that it would result in increase.  I think there is an equal probability of it resulting in lower or higher.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of Enbridge's experience to date, has it, in net, resulted in higher or lower? 


MR. CHARLESON:  If we were to look at the time period, say, 2000 through 2005, we would be looking at it being a net reduction of about $7 million.


MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of the total time period that you have been conducting risk management?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't have numbers going back.


MR. RUBINO:  We don't have numbers.


MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if you can undertake to provide those numbers, the total impact on commodity costs of the company's risk management activities to date from the point of time in which it was first initiated?


MR. RUBINO:  Yes, we can.


MR. CHARLESON:  We can undertake to try to do that.  Not knowing exactly when our risk management program started, the availability data could be a challenge.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J5.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY IMPACT ON COMMODITY COSTS

MR. RUBINO:  We will go as far back as we possibly can.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  In any event, it is safe to say in the long term, it's not your intent to beat the market?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Nor is it likely you will beat the market?


MR. CHARLESON:  It's not our expectation that we would be able to.  I think if we had ‑‑ if we believed we could consistently beat the market, we may have to up a separate business to do that.


MS. DeMARCO:  So it's not your intent, because it is not likely?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  So with the objective of steady rates, am I correct in my understanding that the utility attempts to mitigate system gas customers' full and prompt exposure to fluctuating market prices?


MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps you could explain a little bit more what you mean by "full and prompt".


MS. DeMARCO:  Am I correct in understanding that the utility is trying to mitigate a customer's timely and full exposure to market prices?


MR. RUBINO:  We're trying to mitigate the price volatility in the market.  No customer pays the market price for natural gas commodity, as you would see on NYMEX on any given day, in terms of when we purchased the gas, go through storage and the like.  But we try to reduce the volatility over a period of time that we have an influence on for all of our customers.


MS. DeMARCO:  And that would be a move away from the price that you would see on NYMEX; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  It would be to hedge the impact ‑‑ again, depending on where we're buying the gas.  It is not necessarily NYMEX indexed.  It could be on another basis, but it would be with intent to mitigate the potential volatility that you might see at the specific hub that we're taking the ‑‑ doing the hedge transactions at.


MS. DeMARCO:  So whether we choose NYMEX or AECO, it would be a move away from the daily impact of those volatile prices at those price points?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it would, for the volumes that are hedged.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And in this manner, the company ‑‑ the customer is not exposed to or necessarily aware of what those prices would be; is that fair?


MR. RUBINO:  Your average customer wouldn't keep track of NYMEX prices or the prices of the market.


MS. DeMARCO:  And is it fair to say that all of the risk management activity of the company used to be undertaken by Enbridge Gas Services?


MR. RUBINO:  No.


MR. CHARLESON:  No, that's not fair to say.  Again, in terms of the -- say, the execution of the transactions, say, doing the ‑‑ putting the financial hedges in place was done by Enbridge Gas Services.  However, say, the remittances and all of the accounting associated with the resulting transactions being done within Enbridge Gas Distribution, the approvals of the transactions is being done by Enbridge Gas Distribution and our treasury group.  So really it is more the administrative aspect of determining the hedge mix, and then actually entering into the hedge -- you know, initiating the actual hedge transactions were the only functions really being performed by gas services.


MS. DeMARCO:  There was a portion ‑‑


MR. RUBINO:  The initiation of whether or not we're in a hedgible position or not is performed by EGD staff, the very commencement of the process.


MS. DeMARCO:  So very broad brush, is it fair to say it was a shared function?  EGD and EGS undertook portions of the risk management function?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  EGS had a role that they played in it that.  EGD was the principal.


MS. DeMARCO:  And EGD -- sorry, EGS no longer has that role; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Upon repatriation, they will no longer have that role.  They will no longer play any role in our risk management activities.


MS. DeMARCO:  So Mr. Adams went through the composition, and I'm going to get the committee wrong, but the risk management committee or the committee that undertakes risk management functions.


MR. RUBINO:  The committee is the gas supply risk management committee.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.


MR. RUBINO:  For the record.


MS. DeMARCO:  And several of the members were from EGS?


MR. CHARLESON:  There was one member or one participant within the committee, and I think we identified them as being part of the support group that was from EGS, and that was the only participant.


MS. DeMARCO:  And it's safe to assume, then, that that person will knowledge longer be part of the committee?


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, the person, I hope, will be, but as an EGD employee.


MS. DeMARCO:  Because ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  I hope they will be comfortable with transferring to EGD as part of the repatriation.


MS. DeMARCO:  With no ‑‑ and I assume that it's safe to assume that that individual will not also be working for EGS?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  They would be an EGD employee.


MS. DeMARCO:  They will not have contact with EGS?


MR. CHARLESON:  They may go for coffees, the same as they may go for coffee with any marketer in the business.


MS. DeMARCO:  If I could ask you to turn to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 95, which is Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 95?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Again, in the context of understanding the broader context that risk management occurs in, I see here the varying break-downs of the proportion of customers, residential and general service customers, that take their commodity supply from system gas and direct purchase.  Is that fair to say?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  And on average, can you give me a current general understanding of the basic break-down between direct purchase and system gas customers in the market?  What percentage would be system gas?


MR. CHARLESON:  Today?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MR. CHARLESON:  I would think it's pretty close to the 2004 number of 60.8.  It's right around 61 percent.


MS. DeMARCO:  So close to 60:40, to be broad brush?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that tends to be the general breakdown that we use.


MS. DeMARCO:  And system gas customers would be composed of low-income customers; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  As my direct purchase customers.  So low-income customers can be either system gas or direct purchase, depending on what they have elected to do.


MS. DeMARCO:  And they would be geographically distributed across Enbridge's service territory?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There is no specific service territory that is exclusive to one form of supply or the other.


MS. DeMARCO:  And they would vary among women and men? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I would expect that to be the case.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to what I've handed out to you, which is marked as, in very poor penmanship, "Excerpt From Board-Approved Settlement in RP-2000‑0040 Pertaining to System Gas Pricing".


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that Exhibit No. K5.2, and we’ll characterize that as “Gas-Pricing Excerpt from RP-2000-0040.”  

EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  GAS-PRICING EXCERPT FROM

RP-2000-0040

     MS. DeMARCO:  And can I ask you to turn to the page marked page 14 of 54.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And in the first full paragraph there, there appear to be a number of principles.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that would appear to be the case.  I just want to, again, proceed with some caution on this, given that we received this on returning from the break, so we haven't had a chance to understand the full context.  But it does appear, for that -- for what's at the top of the page there, that it reflects eight principles.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Subject to check, would you agree with me that this is the genesis of the new system gas-pricing mechanism which is agreed to in 2000-0040 -- I guess “relatively new”, I should say, at this point.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Subject to check, that appears to be what this is reflecting.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the first bullet on that page 14 of 54 indicates that the settlement of this issue presents a new methodology for adjusting the utility price and clearing the PGVA, that is intended to reflect the following eight principles.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that first principle would be that the utility price is more reflective of market prices, on an ongoing basis. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the second principle would be enhanced price transparency.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Moving down to the fourth principle, it would be customer awareness, customer acceptance and less confusion in the marketplace.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That follows the regular, quarterly review process.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Would it be fair to say that each of these principles appear to be contrary to what's going on in risk management? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, specifically, would it be fair to say that risk management moves away from market prices? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  Because the prices that are still being paid are a market price.  They are a hedged market price, but it is still reflecting, you know, to a great extent the -- say, the physical price.  But then it's also reflecting what can’t -- you know, it's reflecting the prices that Enbridge Gas Distribution is paying in the market.   Just the fact that it's protected, some of that, from volatility, doesn't mean that it’s not still a market price.  Anybody else that is doing similar market transactions for hedging would still view that as being their price.  

     In the pure sense, if you're looking at, say, the pure -- is it identical to what, say, is straight flow-through of AECO, yes, it does mitigate some of the volatility that’s there.  But it’s still reflective of what can happen in the market 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I understood Mr. Rubino to say, a few minutes ago, that it was a move away from the prices at AECO and NYMEX; is that correct, Mr. Rubino?

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes.  But just because you hedged doesn't mean you're not reflecting what’s going on in the market.  What I was referring to was every single twist and turn at AECO.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So it's moving away from every single twist and turn at AECO.  And in that regard, I guess it would be moving away from pure price-transparency; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, and this becomes difficult, because it is getting into interpretation, and not having been a participant in this settlement process, my view of enhanced price-transparency was -- would be that it's providing more frequent signals to customers, in terms of what's happening within the market, and -- which the QRAM process, which I believe may have been an outcome of this, is intended to do.  

     It's still -- so the fact that you’ve hedged a portion of the portfolio doesn't diminish the transparency, in terms of the price that the utility is paying for its supply.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I understood Mr. Rubino's answer, a few minutes ago, to indicate that we were moving away from a customer's knowledge of what that fluctuating AECO and NYMEX price would be; is that fair? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  But this line, here, indicates enhanced price transparency.  It doesn't indicate enhanced market-price transparency   So again, not having been a party to this, and not having had an opportunity to read the full settlement, enhanced price-transparency could be reflecting -- we are providing transparency to the price that the utility is paying for its commodity, for system supply.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So you are providing transparency - am I correct in understanding? - to the hedged price; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  To the full, supplied portfolio --

     MS. DeMARCO:  Including --   

     MR. CHARLESON:  Some of that is hedged.  Some of that is not.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Right, including that hedged price.  Thank you.  

     If I can go on to some specific questions about the survey, itself.  And if I can ask you to turn, specifically, to Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 1, at page 7, paragraph 28.   

     MR. CHARLESON:  We have that.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Yes, we have that.   

     MS. DeMARCO:  And paragraph 28 specifically indicates that you commissioned Ipsos-Reid to conduct quantitative survey research among a representative sample of residential, rate-1 and small-commercial rate-6 customers.  

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so it's fair to assume that the survey involved simply rate-1 and rate-6 customers; is that right? 

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And were they just Enbridge Gas Distribution customers? 

     MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And how were all other customers and classes excluded from the survey? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We didn't select them for the sample.  I'm not sure what you mean by “how were they excluded.”  

     MS. DeMARCO:  What is the process that you went through to pick only rate-1 and rate-6? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Within our information systems, we have clearly identified the rate that every customer is to be billed upon.  So, just from looking at the billing system you're able to identify which rate customers are included in.  So it makes it quite easy to zero in on your rate-1 and rate-6 customers. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So you looked at your billing system -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I can't say it was the billing system, but we looked at the information that would have come from our billing system.  We have a customer-data repository that might even have been used, but -- there's a number of means of identifying -- or, a number of systems that can be used to identify the rate-class that a customer is on.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you identified all customers in the class, Mr. Charleson, or just a few? 

     MR. RUBINO:  We selected this many number:  800, in the case of rate-1, and 400, in the case of rate-6.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And can I ask you to turn, specifically, to the study at attachment -- attachment to A3, tab 3, schedule 1, at slide number 5.  

     At the bottom of that slide, it indicates that 382 of the residential customers were system-gas customers and 418 were direct-purchase customers.  Did you specifically select 382 customers? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  The way that this works is, we would have provided a larger sample to Ipsos-Reid.  We wouldn't have provided them, just, strict, Here's 800 resid. rate-1 customers, here’s 400.  We would have provided -- and I'm not sure of what the total sample size that we might have provided to Ipsos-Reid would have been.  

     They then, within a period of time, will go and conduct telephone interviews.  And, obviously, out of the total sample they got, there’s some people aren't going to be home, people aren't going to be willing to participate.  So they keep surveying until they reach the threshold that we’ve set for the survey.  

     And it wasn't until after the survey is completed that you know which customers participated in the survey, and then you would go back and confirm -- as it indicates at the bottom of this page, here, you would go back and then confirm.  Confirm -- okay, well, what ended up being the distribution.  And that's where -- and so that's when -- it’s not until after the survey is completed you actually knew, you know, how many were system-gas and how many were direct-purchase.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So just to clarify for the record, I understood Mr. Rubino to have said that you selected 800.  But I understood you to have just said you selected more than 800.


MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps Mr. Rubino misspoke himself in terms of the specifics of the way these surveys are conducted.


MR. RUBINO:  Agreed.


MS. DeMARCO:  You've indicated that the general breakdown is approximately 60:40 system gas-direct purchase?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's the current breakdown today, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And it's fair to say that the current break-down of the customers you surveyed for both system gas and direct purchase is about 50:50?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, with a little bit higher percentage to direct purchase.


MS. DeMARCO:  So even more than 50:50?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. RUBINO:  Slightly.


MS. DeMARCO:  So that's not necessarily representative of the actual market conditions today, is it?


MR. CHARLESON:  It's a representative ‑‑ it's not necessarily representative or reflective of the choices the customers have made between direct purchase and system gas.  But, again, the purpose of this survey was focussed on all customers, whether they're system gas or direct purchase.  And, again, as we look at the survey results, the results are fairly comparable between the two classes of customers.


So we're confident that, again, this is reflective of what customers are looking for.  And, as I indicated earlier on today, the, you know, customers have the ability to move between system gas and direct purchase, so we believe all ‑‑ all of the views are valid and need to be considered.


MS. DeMARCO:  So just in terms of the pure numbers, something greater than 50 to 40 for direct purchase to system gas is different than the current market conditions of 40 to 60; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I can't disagree with the math.


MS. DeMARCO:  So can I ask you to turn to Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 1, again at paragraph 29?  Let me just ‑‑ starting at page 7 of 9.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  You set out there a number of the specific objectives of the research.  And at your third bullet, it includes an objective of understanding customers' preferences for risk management strategies, in general, and under different market conditions?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Was one of the market conditions a fluctuating percentage of direct purchase and system gas customers?


MR. RUBINO:  No, it was not.


MS. DeMARCO:  Was one of the market conditions a fluctuating percentage of, say, female versus male purchasers?


MR. RUBINO:  No.


MS. DeMARCO:  The specific market conditions you looked to were strictly related to the risk tolerance associated with the threshold; is that fair?


MR. RUBINO:  With price and movements in price.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Can I ask ‑‑


MR. RUBINO:  The 50 percent reduction that was referred to earlier on cross‑examination.


MS. DeMARCO:  Right, right.  Can I ask you now to turn to A3, tab 3, schedule 1, at slide 16?


MR. CHARLESON:  We have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  You've got a specific break-down of all the direct purchase customers surveyed by their actual marketer; is that correct?


MR. RUBINO:  As identified by the respondents to the survey.


MS. DeMARCO:  And did you determine that after the fact?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  This was based on the responses that the customers provided.  This wasn't us going back into our systems and figuring out who ‑‑


MR. RUBINO:  As I indicated, as provided by the respondents.


MS. DeMARCO:  So there is no indication if these are the actual breakdowns?


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.


MR. RUBINO:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And it certainly wasn't pre-selected?


MR. CHARLESON:  Definitely not.


MR. RUBINO:  It was not.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Can I ask, in relation to the customers surveyed, can you tell me what percentage of customers would constitute vulnerable energy consumers?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHARLESON:  We don't specifically have that information.  Obviously, within our organization we may have some statistics that would help ‑‑ that would identify the -- say, the portion of our customer is section -- segment that may be classified as that, but I don't know what that is.


MS. DeMARCO:  But you would agree with me that vulnerable energy customers do constitute a portion of your market?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  That's why they intervene in these proceedings.


MS. DeMARCO:  But it's not necessarily represented in the breakdown of customers?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, the indication that we have is that the overall sample that was used can ‑‑ and, again, after reviewing the information coming out of ‑‑ our research and business intelligence group has indicated that they believe ‑‑ that the sample that ended up being polled was representative of our customer base.  


So based on that, that would mean that vulnerable consumers were represented at a level that would be deemed consistent with our overall customer base.


MS. DeMARCO:  But you didn't measure that?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  It's, again, information that was obtained during the course of the survey, and in looking at the -- you know, the final sample that was used, it was deemed -- it was determined that the sample that we had was representative.


MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, just to clarify, it was information that was gained during the course of the survey?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Whether or not the customer was a vulnerable energy consumer was gauged during the survey?


MR. CHARLESON:  What was gauged was the income levels.


MS. DeMARCO:  Specific income levels were ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you tell me where in the survey that is reflected?


MR. RUBINO:  It's not part of this presentation.  It is information that ‑‑ additional information that Ipsos- Reid collected, but didn't provide in this presentation.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  The demographic information that was used as part of the -‑ or that was collected as part of the survey wasn't ‑‑ wasn't included in the presentation provided to us by Ipsos-Reid, but the information was collected so that the research and business intelligence group could make an assessment regarding the representative nature of the sample.  But for our purposes and for what we were looking for from this survey, that wasn't a principal focus.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you undertake to provide that demographic information?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we can.


MS. DeMARCO:  And does that demographic information include correlation with answers?


MR. CHARLESON:  We haven't done that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it possible to do that?


MR. CHARLESON:  We can undertake to look to see what may be feasible.  It is just a matter of the amount of detail that it may get into, or what's feasible.  So as part of that undertaking, we can also either provide some additional detail that way, or comment on the availability or the ability to provide that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I will take that as a best efforts undertaking.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J5.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION FROM SURVEY

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree with me that at least some customers are ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  Mr. Battista, are you going to provide, I guess, a summary?


MR. BATTISTA:  I was assuming that the preceding transcript would provide that, but we can call that demographic information and, on a best efforts basis, a correlation of the demographic to the response results.


MR. CHARLESON:  We'll look at the transcript, as well.


MS. DeMARCO:  Should there be any need for clarification, I would be happy to provide that at the time.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree with me, panel members, that at least some customers are most concerned with obtaining the lowest price for their gas commodity?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree that would be the focus and the principal concern for some customers.


MS. DeMARCO:  And risk management might result in a lower price, but it also might result in a higher price; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And regardless of whether that price is higher or lower, the intent is that it results in a more stable price; is that correct?


MR. RUBINO:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you show me where in the survey you asked customers about the impact of the cost of risk management on their gas costs?


MR. CHARLESON:  You mean, are you asking more about the cost of administering a risk management program and the transaction costs that we talked about, with Mr. Adams, earlier?  Or are you talking about the potential gains or losses that may occur from hedged transactions? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Either, actually -- or both, more specifically.  The transactional costs and the net annual or long-term impacts.  

     MR. RUBINO:  In reference to hedging, each of questions 14, 16 and 18 make reference to the purchase of insurance.  Again, not wanting to draw a direct relationship between insurance and risk management, but, in terms of how the question was asked, the customer would have ascertained that there was, potentially, some cost associated with the hedging process.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, Mr. Rubino, can you refer me to the exact page where question 14 is outlined?  

     MR. RUBINO:  Just a moment.  Question 14 is on slide 42.  The numbers are on the bottom-right corner.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair that question 14 refers to:

“Which of these four approaches would you like to see Enbridge use on behalf of its customers?”      

     MR. RUBINO:  Well, there's a more detailed question.  Give me just a moment.  If you go to CME Interrogatory No. 17 -- you have to appreciate, the attachment is an Ipsos-Reid presentation, so it doesn't have all of the details of the question.  

     So CME Interrogatory No. 17, filed at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 17 -- in there we talk about insurance in the question.  And that's on page 1 of that IR.  

     Question 16 is reproduced in its entirety on page 3 of that same IR, and question 18 is also on page 3 of that IR.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  And I think, as we’ve indicated in our responses to Mr. Adams, beyond that, there had -- there weren't specific questions related to any other, say, costs of doing risk management.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So there was -- let me just clarify that, for the record.  Customers were not asked how much they would pay for stable prices. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  

     MR. RUBINO:  Correct, they were not. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, specifically, customers were not asked how much they would pay for stable higher-than-market prices? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  There were no questions like -- asked like that.  Because, again, you have to remember what the focus of this survey was.  This survey assumed that the risk-management program would be continuing, and that risk management was an initiative -- or, a program that the customers supported.  

     So the focus of this survey was more to understand the tolerance for volatility that customers had, and so the questions were designed to focus in on that.   We could have conducted a more far-reaching survey, tried to have customers on the phone for half an hour, going through a number of different permutations and combinations, and try to collect all kinds of pieces of information, but, again, in terms of trying to manage the cost of conducting this survey, plus ensure that you don't frustrate customers through the survey process, you try to target in on information that helps you to meet the objectives of what your survey is.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And Mr. Charleson, is it fair to say that, according to Exhibit A3, tab 3, schedule 1, page 7 of 9, paragraph 29, second bullet -- that one of your objectives was to determine customers' expectations about gas prices, broadly? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And might it be fair to assume that certain customers might want to know how much they're paying risk management? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’m sorry, I'm struggling a bit between the link between this objective and that question.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Risk management does affect price.  Yes? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And as a result, the cost of risk management would be important in determining customers’ expectations about gas price? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I don't believe so, given the cost associated with administering risk management, and the total cost of the supply portfolio. You know, this is something that might be lost in rounding.  So in terms of expectations about gas prices, and their sensitivity to price volatility, it would be more focused on the overall commodity cost.  And that’s where we targeted the survey.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just by way of clarification, can I ask you to turn to Energy Probe -- the Energy Probe evidence, which is found at Exhibit L8, on page 7.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have that 

     MS. DeMARCO:  The last paragraph on that page indicates that the company 's -- for fiscal 2002, the company’s commodity costs, as a result of a risk-management transactions, exceeded the market-based index prices in the company's gas-supply contracts, that would otherwise have prevailed, by 40.75 million; is that correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.  It’s also important to note, though, that it doesn't indicate that, in fiscal 2000 -- that it was $45 million in the other direction.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  I certainly take your point that it fluctuates both up and down.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.    

     MS. DeMARCO:  But is it your position that 40.75 million is a portion of rounding?       

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  What I was referring to was the actual administration costs, and the transaction costs that Mr. Rubino has discussed earlier.  When we look at the overall -- say, the commodity-cost impacts -- again, as we've indicated - and I think as everybody agrees, now - over the long-term, these pluses and minuses will balance out.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  But what we don't understand - is it fair to say? - how much customers are willing to pay for that balancing, both in terms of commodity price risk, up and down, and transaction costs.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree.  We didn't ask any questions regarding that.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  

     Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Miss DeMarco.  

     Mr. Millar, do you have any questions? 

     MR. MILLAR:  No.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I just have one or two, Madam Chair, if I may.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. O’LEARY:

     MR. O’LEARY:  Mr. Charleson, Mr. Rubino, Ms. DeMarco introduced Exhibit K5.2.  And I believe, Mr. Charleson, you indicated you hadn't yet had an opportunity to review it.  And this, of course, relates to the settlement agreement in the RP-2000-0040 proceeding.  She took you to page 14 of that exhibit, and suggested to you that some of the principles that are set out there, which relate to the PGVA, were, perhaps, incompatible with the risk-management program of the company.  And, if my notes are correct, I think you attempted to indicate that you didn't agree with that suggestion.  

     But can I afford you an opportunity, now, to go to the very last page of that exhibit.  You’ll see, at issue 2.3

-- we don't have the entire reproduction of it, but you’ll see that, at issue 2.3 in that same proceeding, it dealt with the risk-management program of the company, and there's been a complete settlement 

     Would you offer a comment as to whether or not the fact that the intervenors in that proceeding both agreed upon the principles for the PGVA, and then, in the very next issue, settled completely on the risk-management program -- do you have any further comments about whether or not there appears to be any incompatibility between the principles set out in the PGVA portion of that settlement agreement and the settlement of the risk management?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, my observation would be that, if there’s a complete settlement on both of those issues, that, obviously, the parties to the settlement agreement all understood the role that risk management played with regards to commodity price and utility-supply pricing, and didn't believe that the risk-management program was at odds with the principles that were agreed to in the issue that Miss DeMarco pointed us to.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Charleson.  

     Madam Chair, given the warm and fuzzy weather outside, we all want to get away to our cottages.  I think I’ll discontinue my questioning at that point --

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O’Leary.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Hopefully, that’s not a Divine response to the evidence.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Perhaps the cross-examination, Mr. Dingwall.      

    MR. DINGWALL:  Definitely, Mr. Sommerville.  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville. 

     MS. NOWINA:  We do have a Panel question.  Apologies for that, but we do.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  With some trepidation, given the weather.  I am just interested in making sure I understand, as well as possible, the sort of relationship between the volatility in the risk management and the QRAM mechanism on the one side.


At the end of the day, what people pay for the commodity is being set through the QRAM mechanism; is that fair?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's fair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And that changes quarterly?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So there would be a pattern of volatility in those QRAM prices, let's say, over the last five years?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  We've seen -- definitely seen fluctuations each quarter in both directions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Can you give me a sense of what that level of fluctuation would have been like if you hadn't done the risk management?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHARLESON:  It's not really possible to isolate, say, the impacts of what the hedging would have done.  As we indicated earlier, at this point, because the hedging transactions have represented such a, say, relatively small portion of the overall portfolio, it's difficult to isolate or determine what the QRAM price might have looked like with and without the hedging programs.


As we move forward and as there is potential for, say, more of the portfolio to be hedged, it may create more of an opportunity ‑‑ or it may have more of an impact, in terms of what happens with the QRAM pricing, but like, say, in terms of going back, it is not something that, say, we've necessarily looked at or tried to isolate.  It may be a bit of a challenge to do that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, you've looked at it -- you've looked at that sort of comparison on an annual basis, and basically what you said is there are some years where the prices were higher and somewhere they were lower, and what you would expect over time is, over some period of time, it will be neutral?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's your expectation.  So setting that aside, how do you ensure yourselves that it makes sense to continue this program when you don't know what the impact is on these quarterly prices that people are ‑‑ I mean, that's the volatility ‑‑ to my mind, that is the volatility that people are seeing.  How do you sort of assess how valuable your program is, in terms of actually meeting the stated objective of reducing the volatility?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think that is a very fair question, but how I would view it is the QRAM will indicate the volatility that they're seeing on the bill.  The results of the risk-management program will indicate the volatility they're actually experiencing, because, again, the QRAM process reflects the prices that they're paying, and without -- and, again, your earlier question, How would the QRAM prices have looked different from quarter to quarter if it wasn't risk managed, and you can't really isolate that.


But if you look at, on the -- say, on the annual basis, so the customer is not necessarily going to see it the same, but when we look at the -- say, the results of the risk-management program, we see on an annual basis our total supply portfolio cost was X amount less X amount more.  We also look at it from a perspective in terms of the degree to which the volatility was impact -- or the impact on the volatility.  


So there is measures that we can do, you know, with the information that we -- you know, with the information that we've got.  Part of this is where we will look at, say, the standard deviation of the hedged portfolio versus the standard deviation of the unhedged portfolio.  So from that, we're able to see the percent reduction that occurs in volatility.  


And there was an interrogatory in RP-2003‑0203 that tried to show kind of that reduction in volatility, and that's really what -- say, the measure that we would look at, to say, Are we achieving the objective of this program?  If we see that percentage reduction in volatility going down to, say -- if it's only at 5 percent or, you know -- or some relatively small number, then we would have to seriously question, Are we doing anything to really mitigate the impacts of volatility?


But to the extent that we see that there is a reasonable reduction of that volatility, we use that as a means of having comfort and confidence that the program is meeting its stated objective.  


But, as I indicated, for an end-use consumer looking at their bill, they're not going to -- they're not going to be able to see that the same, but we do have measures that give us the confidence that it is providing the desired effects for the consumer.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just to follow up on that, could you provide ‑‑ I'm sure we could go back and find in the 2003 case that interrogatory response that compared the standard deviation of the hedged portfolio and the unhedged portfolio.  Could you replicate that for us, please?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we can.  Just for the record, it was Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 18 in that proceeding, but we will provide copies for you.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we have an undertaking number for that, Mr. Battista.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J5.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.8:  PROVIDE INTERROGATORY RESPONSE FROM RP-2003‑0203

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Miss DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, one procedural matter, I apologize.  I've done it again.  Those questions were asked on behalf of Superior.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  The hearing is long enough that you will get it straight. 


Mr. O'Leary, given the Panel's questions, did you have any other re-direct?


MR. O'LEARY:  No further questions, Madam Chair. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Everyone, have a safe journey home and take it slowly if you need to.  The hearing is adjourned until 9 o'clock on Monday morning.  Thank you very much, panel. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m. 
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